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PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, 2021 and 2020 

(In Philippine Peso)

       2020      2019
    (As Restated)     (As Restated)

A S S E T S

Current Assets

Cash 6 67,116,566            19,180,696            32,619,231             

Contracts and other receivables – net 7 274,273,447          302,822,251          80,777,234             

Real estate inventories – net 8 508,326,942          608,133,535          1,229,221,254        

Due from related parties 16 8,935,883              26,940,766            28,885,853             

Prepayments and other current assets – net 9 209,085,731          218,973,318          243,294,153           

1,067,738,569       1,176,050,566       1,614,797,725        

Non-current Assets

Property and equipment – net 10 355,929                  281,847                 158,147                  

Investment properties 11 20,479,596            20,479,596            20,479,596             

20,835,525            20,761,443            20,637,743             

TOTAL ASSETS 1,088,574,094       1,196,812,009       1,635,435,468        

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 909,777,075          931,396,894          888,217,547           

Contract liabilities and tenants' deposit 15 57,551,139            67,372,424            485,583,962           

Due to related parties 16 379,677,068          328,458,126          349,665,945           

Loans payable 14 60,765,417            -                         4,295,502               

1,407,770,699       1,327,227,444       1,727,762,956        

Non-current Liabilities

Loans payable – net of current portion 14 -                          105,139,150          112,763,842           

Retirement benefits obligation 24 1,872,413              1,872,413              2,622,413               

Project development commitment 17 26,751,896            26,751,896            26,751,896             

28,624,309            133,763,459          142,138,151           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,436,395,008       1,460,990,903       1,869,901,107        

S T O C K H O L D E R S '  E Q U I T Y

Capital Stock 18 436,700,000          436,700,000          436,700,000           

Additional Paid-In Capital 18 1,089,000,000       1,089,000,000       1,089,000,000        

Deficit (1,873,520,914)      (1,789,878,894)      (1,760,165,640)       

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (347,820,914)         (264,178,894)         (234,465,640)          

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 1,088,574,094       1,196,812,009       1,635,435,468        

(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)

NOTES           2021

L I A B I L I T I E S



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019

(In Philippine Peso)

NOTES      2021     2020      2019

REVENUES 19 338,360,725     280,873,910     169,635,311

DIRECT COSTS 20 237,927,250     180,424,776     99,935,960

GROSS PROFIT 100,433,475     100,449,134     69,699,351

OTHER INCOME 21 3,521,156         8,194,598         422,546

103,954,631     108,643,732     70,121,897       

OPERATING EXPENSES 22 68,622,793       121,799,183     33,377,294

OTHER EXPENSES 23 110,964,017 -                    -                    

FINANCE COSTS 14,16 -                    49,667              1,002,207

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX (75,632,179)      (13,205,118)      35,742,396       

INCOME TAX 26 8,009,841         16,508,136       1,401,707         

PROFIT (LOSS) (83,642,020)      (29,713,254)      34,340,689       

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share 28 (0.35)                 (0.06)                 0.16                  

(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019

(In Philippine Peso)

Notes  Capital Stock 

 Additional Paid-in 

Capital  Deficit  Total 

Balance at January 1, 2019, as previously stated        436,700,000         1,089,000,000             (1,691,241,235)           (165,541,235)

Correction of prior period errors 32                (103,265,094)           (103,265,094)

Balance at January 1, 2019, as restated 436,700,000       1,089,000,000       (1,794,506,329)            (268,806,329)          

Profit 34,340,689                  34,340,689             

Balance at December 31, 2019 436,700,000       1,089,000,000       (1,760,165,640)            (234,465,640)          

Loss (29,713,254)                 (29,713,254)            

Balance at December 31, 2020 18 436,700,000       1,089,000,000       (1,789,878,894)            (264,178,894)          

Loss (83,642,020)                 (83,642,020)            

Balance at December 31, 2021 18 436,700,000       1,089,000,000       (1,873,520,914)            (347,820,914)          

(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019

(In Philippine Peso)

NOTES         2021          2020      2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit (Loss) before tax (75,632,179)       (13,205,118)         35,742,396             

Adjustments for:

Provision for decline in value 8,23 99,745,850         -                       -                          

Provision for expected credit losses 16,23 9,861,417           -                       -                          

Provision for probable losses 9,23 1,356,750           

Retirement benefits 24 198,800              800,000               234,834                  

Depreciation 10,22 98,014                214,495               46,939                    

Gain on assignment 12,21 -                      (6,556,080)           -                          

Finance costs 14,16 -                      49,667                 1,002,207               

Impairment loss 9,22 -                      -                       734,863                  

Finance income from banks 6,21 (39,808)              (21,458)                (36,553)                   

Reversal of allowance for expected credit losses 7,21 (3,028,314)         -                       -                          

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 32,560,530         (18,718,494)         37,724,686             

Decrease (Increase) in operating assets:

Contracts and other receivables – net 31,577,118         (222,045,017)       (13,395,952)            

Real estate inventories – net 60,743                616,697,869        (16,350,234)            

Prepayments and other current assets 520,996              7,812,699            (5,053,630)              

Increase (Decrease) in operating liabilities:

Trade and other payables 12,782,512         68,401,795          (266,249,964)          

Contract liabilities and tenants' deposit (9,821,285)         (418,211,538)       410,700,819           

Cash generated from operations 67,680,614         33,937,314          147,375,725           

Retirement benefits paid 24 (198,800)            (1,550,000)           (234,834)                 

Net cash from operating activities 67,481,814         32,387,314          147,140,891           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Advances collected from related parties 16 8,143,466           1,945,087            3,518,654               

Finance income received from banks 6,21 39,808                21,458                 36,553                    

Proceeds from sale of equipment 10 -                      -                       176,738                  

Advances given to related parties 16 -                      -                       (13,696,134)            

Additions to property and equipment 10 (172,096)            (338,195)              -                          

Net cash from (used in) investing activities 8,011,178           1,628,350            (9,964,189)              

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advances received from related parties 16 96,543,254         32,568,572          8,260,735               

Proceeds from availment of loan 14 -                      -                       40,329,935             

Finance costs paid 14,16 (34,402,331)       (25,272,116)         (93,423,284)            

Payments of loan 14 (44,373,733)       (974,264)              (4,411,419)              

Advances paid to related parties 16 (45,324,312)       (53,776,391)         (64,319,512)            

Net cash used in financing activities (27,557,122)       (47,454,199)         (113,563,545)          

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 47,935,870         (13,438,535)         23,613,157             

CASH AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 19,180,696         32,619,231          9,006,074               

CASH AT END OF YEAR 67,116,566         19,180,696          32,619,231             

(See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)





 

PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 

 

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION AND STATUS OF OPERATIONS 

Philtown Properties Inc. (the “Parent Company”) was incorporated and registered 

with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on May 12, 1995.  

The Parent Company’s primary purpose is to acquire by purchase, lease or any other 

lawful transactions or means, real estate, other properties, as well as interest or rights 

in such real estate and properties, for investment, development, improvement, 

subdivision, sale, lease or other disposition, and to plan, construct, operate, maintain, 

equip, furnish, administer, sell, lease or otherwise, dispose of industrial, commercial, 

residential hotel and any other buildings, facilities, establishments and projects of 

every kind, nature and description, and complexes, communities, and other 

combinations of such buildings, facilities, establishments and projects, whether as 

principal agent or broker or in any other capacity, to acquire, by any lawful 

transactions or means, enterprises and businesses organized for the same related 

purposes, or engaged or about to engage in business activities necessary, convenient 

or incidental to the purpose of the corporation, or situated at any of the real 

properties in which the corporation has an interest, to acquire, by any lawful 

transactions or means, enterprises and businesses organized for the same related 

purposes, or engaged transactions or means, enterprises and businesses organized 

for the same related purposes, or engaged or about to engaged in business activities 

necessary, convenient or incidental to the purpose of the corporation, or situated at 

any of the real properties in which the corporation has an interest, to acquire any 

interest in such businesses and enterprises, or other assets, including goodwill, 

thereof, as well as to hold, operate, manage, use, sell and otherwise dispose of the 

whole or part of such businesses, enterprises, interests and assets, and to do any and 

everything necessary or proper, to the extent permitted by law, with the above 

described real estate, other real properties, rights and interests, buildings, facilities, 

establishments and projects, and the above described businesses, enterprises, and 

any interests in any assets of such businesses, enterprises, and any interests in any 

assets of such businesses and enterprises. 

The Parent Company is 97.43% owned by domestic corporations and 2.57% by 

Filipino individuals.  

The Group has deficit of P1,873,520,914 and P1,789,878,894 as of 

December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, resulting to capital deficiency of 

P347,820,914 and P264,178,894 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

These conditions indicate the existence of uncertainties, which may affect the Parent’s 

Company ability to continue as a going concern. The Management decided to submit 

to the Court petition for corporate rehabilitation which aims:  

a. To put the respective businesses of the Parent Company in “custodia legis”  

in order to protect the interests of, not just the Parent Company but all the 

participants in the rehabilitation;  
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b. To establish a planned, systematic settlement of the Parent Company’s 

obligations following a specific plan and schedule considering all other factors 

that have effect on the Parent Company’s rehabilitation, such as:  

 

• Continuation of existing contracts; 

• Extinguishment of liabilities to trade creditors and suppliers that are 

already beyond the 10-year prescriptive period; 

• Waiver of taxes already due to the national and local governments at 

the time of the issuance of the Commencement Order as provided by 

the FRIA and supported by BIR Ruling; 

• Resolution of specific claims for payment being contested by the 

Parent Company; 

• Fulfillment of remaining project development commitments; 

• Condonation of creditors related to the Parent Company of interest 

after a specified cut-off date; and  

 

c. To carry on the going concern attributes of the respective business of the 

Parent Company; and 

 

d. To set up a business environment that will allow the Parent Company to adapt 

to its current state of affairs and eventually rise from its present financial 

condition.  

 

Name of Subsidiaries Principal Activity 

Place of 

Incorporation and 

Operation 

Philtown Utilities Corporation (PUC) Utility Distribution Makati City 

First San Rafael Realty Corporation (FSRRC) Real Estate Makati City 

One McKinley Place, Inc. (OMPI) Real Estate Makati City 

First Tanauan Realty Corporation (FTRC) Real Estate Makati City 

RFM Realty Marketing Corporation (RRMC) Real Estate Makati City 

Metropolitan Tower Corporation (MTC) Real Estate Makati City 

Philtown Property Management Inc. (PPMI) 

Property 

Management Makati City 

As at December 31, 2021 and 2020, all of the subsidiaries except FSRRC and OMPI,  

have ceased operations.  

The Parent Company’s registered office address is at 3rd floor, BJS Building,  

BJS Compound, 1869 P. Domingo Street, Makati. 
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

The Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) approved the issuance 

of new and revised Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS). The term 

“PFRS” in general includes all applicable PFRS, Philippine Accounting Standards 

(PAS), and Interpretations issued by the Philippine Interpretations Committee (PIC),  

Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which have been approved by the FRSC and 

adopted by SEC.  

These new and revised PFRS prescribe new accounting recognition, measurement 

and disclosure requirements applicable to the Group. When applicable, the adoption 

of the new standards was made in accordance with their transitional provisions,  

otherwise the adoption is accounted for as change in accounting policy under  

PAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.  

2.01 New and Revised PFRSs Applied with No Material Effect on the Consolidated 

Financial Statements 

The following new and revised PFRSs have been adopted in these consolidated 

financial statements. The application of these new and revised PFRSs has not had any 

material impact on the amounts reported for the current and prior years but may 

affect the accounting for future transactions or arrangements. 

• Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-19 - related Rent Concessions 

The following are the amendments to PFRS 16: 

• provide lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID-19 

related rent concession is a lease modification; 

• require lessees that apply the exemption to account for COVID-19 related 

rent concessions as if they were not lease modifications; 

• require lessees that apply the exemption to disclose that fact; and 

• require lessees to apply the exemption retrospectively in accordance with  

PAS 8, but not require them to restate prior period figures. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after   

June 1, 2020. 
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2.02 New and Revised PFRSs in Issue but Not Yet Effective 

The Group will adopt the following standards and interpretations enumerated below 

when they become effective. Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not 

expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS, to have significant impact on 

the consolidated financial statements. 

2.02.01 Standard Adopted by FRSC and Approved by the Board of Accountancy (BOA) 

• Amendments to PFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond  

June 30, 2021 

The following are the amendments to PFRS 16: 

➢ permit a lessee to apply the practical expedient regarding COVID-19-

related rent concessions to rent concessions for which any reduction in 

lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before  

June 30, 2022 (rather than only payments originally due on or before  

June 30, 2021); 

➢ require a lessee applying the amendment to do so for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after April 1, 2021;  

➢ require a lessee applying the amendment to do so retrospectively, 

recognizing the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment as an 

adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings (or other 

component of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of the annual 

reporting period in which the lessee first applies the amendment; and  

➢ specify that, in the reporting period in which a lessee first applies the 

amendment, a lessee is not required to disclose the information required 

by paragraph 28(f) of PAS 8. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

April 1, 2021, with earlier application permitted. 

• Amendments to PFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework 

The following are the amendments in reference to the conceptual framework: 

➢ update PFRS 3 so that it refers to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead 

of 1989 Framework; 

➢ add to PFRS 3 a requirement that, for transactions and other events within 

the scope of PAS 37 or IFRIC 21, an acquirer applies PAS 37 or IFRIC 21 

instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has 

assumed in a business combination; and 

➢ add to PFRS 3 an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognize 

contingent assets acquired in a business combination. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

January 1, 2022, with earlier application permitted if an entity also applies all 

other updated references (published together with the updated Conceptual 

Framework) at the same time or earlier. 
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• Amendments to PAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before 

Intended Use 

The amendments prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of property, 

plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the 

company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will 

recognize such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

January 1, 2022, with earlier application permitted. An entity applies the 

amendments retrospectively only to items of property, plant and equipment that 

are brought to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management on or after the beginning of the 

earliest period presented in the consolidated financial statements in which the 

entity first applies the amendments. 

• Amendments to PAS 37, Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs 

that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can 

either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct 

labor, materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling 

contracts (an example would be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an 

item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract). 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after  

January 1, 2022, with earlier application permitted. Entities apply the amendments 

to contracts for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the 

beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the 

amendments. Comparatives are not restated. 

• Annual Improvements to PFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle 

Amendments to PFRS 1, Subsidiary as a first-time adopter - The amendment 

permits a subsidiary that applies paragraph D16(a) of PFRS 1 to measure 

cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by its parent, 

based on the parent’s date of transition to PFRSs. 

Amendments to PFRS 9, Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial 

liabilities - The amendment clarifies which fees an entity includes when it applies 

the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of PFRS 9 in assessing whether to 

derecognize a financial liability. An entity includes only fees paid or received 

between the entity (the borrower) and the lender, including fees paid or received 

by either the entity or the lender on the other’s behalf. 

Amendments to PFRS 16, Lease Incentives - The amendment to Illustrative 

Example 13 accompanying PFRS 16 removes from the example the illustration of 

the reimbursement of leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to resolve 

any potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives that might 

arise because of how lease incentives are illustrated in that example. 
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Amendments to PAS 41, Taxation in fair value measurements - The amendment 

removes the requirement in paragraph 22 of PAS 41 for entities to exclude 

taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value of a biological asset using a 

present value technique. This will ensure consistency with the requirements in 

PFRS 13. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2022. 

• Amendments to PAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

The amendments to PAS 1 are the following: 

➢ clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should 

be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period 

and align the wording in all affected paragraphs to refer to the "right" to 

defer settlement by at least twelve months and make explicit that only 

rights in place "at the end of the reporting period" should affect the 

classification of a liability; 

➢ clarify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an 

entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability; and 

➢ make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of 

cash, equity instruments, other assets or services. 

The amendments defer the effective date of the January 2020 Classification of 

Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to PAS 1) to annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. Earlier application of the  

January 2020 amendments continues to be permitted. 

• Amendments to PAS 8, Definition of Accounting Estimates 

The definition of accounting estimates has been amended as follows: accounting 

estimates are “monetary amounts in consolidated financial statements that are 

subject to measurement uncertainty”. 

The amendment also clarifies the following: 

➢ Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require items 

in consolidated financial statements to be measured in a way that involves 

measurement uncertainty.  

➢ A change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new 

developments is not the correction of an error. In addition, the effects of a 

change in an input or a measurement technique used to develop an 

accounting estimate are changes in accounting estimates if they do not 

result from the correction of prior period errors. 

➢ A change in an accounting estimate may affect only the current period’s 

profit or loss, or the profit or loss of both the current period and future 

periods. The effect of the change relating to the current period is 

recognised as income or expense in the current period. The effect, if any, 

on future periods is recognised as income or expense in those future 

periods. 
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The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2023 and changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting 

estimates that occur on or after the start of that period, with earlier application 

permitted. 

• Amendments to PAS 1 and PFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure Initiative – 

Accounting Policies 

The amendments to PAS 1 are the following: 

➢ an entity is now required to disclose its material accounting policy 

information instead of its significant accounting policies;  

➢ several paragraphs are added to explain how an entity can identify 

material accounting policy information and to give examples of when 

accounting policy information is likely to be material;  

The amendments also clarify the following: 

➢ accounting policy information may be material because of its nature, even 

if the related amounts are immaterial; 

➢ accounting policy information is material if users of an entity’s 

consolidated financial statements would need it to understand other 

material information in the consolidated financial statements; and  

➢ if an entity discloses immaterial accounting policy information, such 

information shall not obscure material accounting policy information. 

In addition, PFRS Practice Statement 2 has been amended by adding guidance 

and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the ‘four-step 

materiality process’ to accounting policy information in order to support the 

amendments to PAS 1. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2023, with earlier application permitted. 

• Amendment to PAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a 

single transaction 

The amendments introduce an exception to the initial recognition exemption (IRE) 

in PAS 12. Additional exclusions have been added to the IRE, detailed in 

paragraphs 15(b)(iii) and 24(c) for deferred tax liabilities and assets respectively. 

The effects of these amendments essentially mean that the IRE is not available for 

transactions which involve the recognition of both an asset and liability – which in 

turn leads to equal and opposite temporary differences – such that deferred taxes 

are calculated and booked for both temporary differences, both at initial 

recognition and subsequently. Applying this exception, an entity does not apply 

the initial recognition exemption for transactions that give rise to equal taxable 

and deductible temporary differences.  
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The initial recognition exemption was initially included within PAS 12 to prevent a 

lack of reporting transparency for transactions which are not business 

combinations and, at the time of the transaction, do not affect either accounting or 

taxable profits. Under this exemption, deferred tax assets/liabilities would neither 

be recognized at initial recognition of the underlying asset/liability, nor 

subsequently. 

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the 

earliest comparative period presented. In addition, the amendments also apply to 

taxable and deductible temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets 

and lease liabilities, and decommissioning obligations and corresponding 

amounts recognized as assets at the beginning of the earliest comparative period 

presented. 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  

January 1, 2023. Early application of the amendments is permitted. 

• PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 

PFRS 17 sets out the requirements that an entity should apply in reporting 

information about insurance contracts it issues and reinsurance contracts it holds.  

It requires an entity that issues insurance contracts to report them on the balance 

sheet as the total of the fulfilment cash flows and the contractual service margin.  

It requires an entity to provide information that distinguishes two ways insurers 

earn profits from insurance contracts: the insurance service result and the 

financial result. It requires an entity to report as insurance revenue the amount 

charged for insurance coverage when it is earned, rather than when the entity 

receives premium. It requires that insurance revenue to exclude the deposits that 

represent the investment of the policyholder, rather than an amount charged for 

services. Similarly, it requires the entity to present deposit repayments as 

settlements of liabilities rather than as insurance expense. 

PFRS 17 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025.  

Early application is permitted for entities that apply PFRS 9 Financial Instruments 

and PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on or before the date of 

initial application of PFRS 17.   

An entity shall apply PFRS 17 retrospectively unless impracticable, except that an 

entity is not required to present the quantitative information required by 

paragraph 28(f) of PAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 

and Errors and an entity shall not apply the option in paragraph B115 for periods 

before the date of initial application of PFRS 17. If, and only if, it is impracticable, 

an entity shall apply either the modified retrospective approach or the fair value 

approach. 

• Amendments to PFRS 17, Insurance Contracts 

The amendments cover the following areas: 

➢ Insurance acquisition cash flows for renewals outside the contract 

boundary; 

➢ Reinsurance contracts held—onerous underlying insurance contracts; 

➢ Reinsurance contracts held—underlying insurance contracts with direct 

participation features; and 

➢ Recognition of the contractual service margin in profit or loss in the 

general model. 
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The amendments are affective to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2025. 

• Amendment to PFRS 17, Initial Application of PFRS 17 and PFRS 9― Comparative 

Information 

The amendment is a transition option relating to comparative information about 

financial assets presented on initial application of PFRS 17. The amendment is 

aimed at helping entities to avoid temporary accounting mismatches between 

financial assets and Insurance contract liabilities, and therefore Improve the 

usefulness of comparative information for users of consolidated financial 

statements. 

PFRS 17 incorporating the amendment is effective for annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2025. 

2.02.02 Deferred 

• Amendments to PFRS 10 and PAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets 

between an investor and its associate and joint venture. This requires an investor 

in its consolidated financial statements to recognize in full the gains and losses 

arising from the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business while 

recognize partial gains and losses if the assets do not constitute a business  

(i.e., up to the extent only of unrelated investor share).  

On January 13, 2016, the FRSC decided to postpone the original effective date of 

January 1, 2016 of the said amendments until the IASB has completed its broader 

review of the research project on equity accounting that may result in the 

simplification of accounting for such transactions and of other aspects of 

accounting for associates and joint ventures. 
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3. BASIS FOR THE PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

3.01 Statement of Compliance 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical basis, 

except for certain financial instruments that are carried at amortized cost, and real 

estate inventories carried at lower of cost or net realizable value.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with 

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRSs), except for the departure from the 

provisions of paragraph 67 of PAS 19 wherein the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation should be determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method (PUCM), and 

as modified by the application of the financial reporting reliefs issued and approved 

by the SEC in response to the COVID-19 pandemic: 

• Deferral of the provisions of Philippines Interpretations Committee (PIC) Q&A 
2018-12, PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers affecting the real 
estate industry 

a. Exclusion of land in the determination of percentage of completion (POC) 

discussed in PIC Q&A No. 2018-12-E.  

b. Accounting for significant financing component discussed in PIC Q&A  

No 2018-12-D. 

c. Accounting to Common Usage Service Area (CUSA) Charges discussed 

in PIC Q&A 2018-12-H.  

d. Adoption of PIC Q&A 2018-14: PFRS 15, Accounting for cancellation of 

Real Estate.  

3.02 Functional and Presentation Currency 

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured 

using Philippine Peso (P), the currency of the primary economic environment in which 

the Group operates (the “functional currency”).   

The Group chose to present its consolidated financial statements using its functional 

currency. 

3.03 Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Parent 

Company and its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the 

Parent Company and the entities controlled by the Parent Company (its subsidiaries) 

up to December 31 of each year. Control is achieved when the Parent Company has 

exposure or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power over an investee. In assessing 

control, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or convertible are taken 

into account. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date when control is transferred to the Parent 

Company and ceases to be consolidated from the date when control is transferred out 

of the Parent Company. 
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At acquisition, the assets and liabilities and the contingent liabilities of a subsidiary 

are measured at their fair values at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of 

acquisition over the fair values of the assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.   

Any deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the identifiable net 

assets acquired (i.e., discount on acquisition) is credited to the profit and loss in the 

period of acquisition. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of fair value 

of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling 

interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this 

consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 

the difference is recognized in profit or loss. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated 

impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 

business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s  

cash-generating units (CGU) that are expected to benefit from the combination, 

irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquire are assigned to those 

units. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies 

for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances. Inter-group balances 

and transactions, including inter-group profits and unrealized profits and losses, are 

eliminated. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the 

subsidiary to bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by the Group.  

All inter-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated during 

consolidation. 

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not 

held by the Parent Company and are presented in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statements of financial 

position, separately from the Group’s equity attributable to equity holders of the 

Parent Company. 

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the 

former subsidiary from the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group 

recognizes any investment retained in the former subsidiary at its fair value when 

control is lost and subsequently accounts for it and for any amounts owed by or to 

the former subsidiary in accordance with relevant PFRSs. That fair value shall be 

regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset in accordance with 

PFRS 9 or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an 

associate or joint venture. The Group recognizes the gain or loss associated with the 

loss of control attributable to the former controlling interest. 

3.04 Current and Non-current Presentation 

The Group classifies an asset as current when: 

• It expects to realize the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal 

operating cycle; 

• It holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• It expects to realize the asset within twelve (12) months after the reporting 

period; or 
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• The asset is cash or cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being 

exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve (12) months after the 

reporting period. 

The Group classifies all other assets as non-current. 

The Group classifies a liability as current when: 

• It expects to settle the liability in its normal operating cycle; 

• It holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• The liability is due to be settled within twelve (12) months after the reporting 

period; or 

• It does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 

least twelve (12) months after the reporting period. 

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities, 

respectively. 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Principal accounting and financial reporting policies applied by the Group in the 

preparation of its consolidated financial statements are enumerated below and are 

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

4.01 Fair Value Measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 

date.   

When measuring fair value the Group takes into consideration the characteristics of 

the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 

account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.  

A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or liability is 

exchanged in an orderly transaction between market participants to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability at the measurement date under current market conditions.   

In addition, it assumes that the transaction takes place either: (a) in the principal 

market; or (b) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 

The Group considers the fair value of an asset or a liability using the assumptions that 

market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that 

market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 

participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 

best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 

highest and best use. 
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A fair value measurement assumes that a financial or non-financial liability or an 

entity’s own equity instruments (e.g., equity interests issued as consideration in a 

business combination) is transferred to a market participant at the measurement date.   

The transfer of a liability or an entity’s own equity instrument assumes the following: 

• A liability would remain outstanding and the market participant transferee 

would be required to fulfil the obligation. The liability would not be settled 

with the counterparty or otherwise extinguished on the measurement date. 

• An entity’s own equity instrument would remain outstanding and the market 

participant transferee would take on the rights and responsibilities associated 

with the instrument. The instrument would not be cancelled or otherwise 

extinguished on the measurement date. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and 

for which sufficient date are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of 

relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices (unadjusted) in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable 

inputs. 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

4.02 Financial Assets 

4.02.01 Initial Recognition and Measurement 

The Group recognizes a financial asset in its consolidated statements of financial 

position when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. 

The Group shall measure a financial asset at its fair value plus, transaction costs that 

are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset.  

At initial recognition, the Group shall measure receivables that do not have a 

significant financing component at their transaction price. 

4.02.02 Classification 

➢ Financial Asset at Amortized Cost 

A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of the following 

conditions are met: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to 

hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and  

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding. 
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The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost include cash in banks,  

contracts and other receivables, due from related parties and deposits presented 

under ‘prepayments and other current assets’. 

a) Cash in Banks 

Cash in banks pertains to cash deposits held at call with banks that are subject to 

insignificant risk of change in value. This shall be measured at the undiscounted 

amount of the cash or other consideration expected to be paid or received. 

b) Contracts and Other Receivables 

Contracts and other receivables are recognized initially at the transaction price 

and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, less provision for impairment. 

c) Due from Related Parties 

Due from related parties are recognized initially at the transaction price and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 

less provision for impairment. 

d) Deposits 

Deposits are recognized initially at the amount given to service provider and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 

less provision for impairment. 

The Group has no financial asset at fair value either through other comprehensive 

income or through profit or loss in both years. 

4.02.03 Reclassification 

When, and only when, the Group changes its business model for managing financial 

assets it shall reclassify all affected financial assets in accordance with Note 4.02.02.  

If the Group reclassifies financial assets, it shall apply the reclassification 

prospectively from the reclassification date. The Group shall not restate any 

previously recognized gains, losses (including impairment gains or losses) or interest. 

4.02.04 Effective Interest Method 

Finance income is calculated by using the effective interest method. This is calculated 

by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset 

except for: purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets and financial 

assets that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired but subsequently have 

become credit-impaired. 

4.02.05 Impairment 

The Group measures expected losses of a financial instrument in a way that reflects: 

• An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating 

a range of possible outcomes; 

• The time value of money; and 

• Reasonable and supportable assumption that is available without undue cost or 

effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecast of 

future economic conditions. 
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The Group adopted the general approach in accounting for impairment. 

➢ General Approach 

The Group applies general approach to cash in banks, contracts and other 

receivables, due from related parties and deposits. At each reporting date, the 

Group measures the loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to 

the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on that financial asset has 

increased significantly since initial recognition.  However, if the credit risk has not 

increased significantly, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to  

12-month expected credit losses. 

The Group compares the risk of default occurring as at the reporting date with the 

risk of default occurring as at the date of initial recognition and consider the  

macro-economic factors such as GDP rate, interest rate, and inflation rate;         

the status of counterparties’ industry; and the available financial information of 

each counterparty to determine whether there is a significant increase in credit 

risk or not since initial recognition. 

The Group determines that there has been a significant increase in credit risk 

when there is a significant decline in the factors. 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not 

increased significantly since initial recognition because the financial instrument is 

determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. 

The Group did not apply the 30 days past due rebuttable presumption because 

the Group determines that there have been no significant increases in credit risk 

even when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due. 

The Group did not apply the 90 days past due rebuttable presumption in 

determining whether a financial asset is credit-impaired or not. 

If the Group has measured the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses in the previous reporting period, but determines at the 

current reporting date, that the credit quality improves (i.e., there is no longer a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition), then the Group shall 

measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit 

losses at the current reporting date. 

The Group recognizes in profit or loss, as an impairment gain or loss,  

the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the 

loss allowance at the reporting date. 

The Group performs the assessment of significant increases in credit risk on a 

collective basis by considering information that is indicative of significant 

increases in credit risk. The Group groups financial instruments on the basis of 

shared credit risk characteristics with the objective of facilitating an analysis that 

is designed to enable significant increases in credit risk to be identified on a 

timely basis.  

The shared credit risk characteristics may include, but are not limited to, the: 

• Instrument type; 

• Credit risk ratings; 

• Collateral type; 

• Date of initial recognition; 

• Remaining term to maturity; 

• Industry; 
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• Geographical location of the borrower; and 

The value of collateral relative to the financial asset if it has an impact on the 

probability of a default occurring (for example, non-recourse loans in some 

jurisdictions or loan-to-value ratios). 

The Group determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 

events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that 

financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 

includes observable data about the following events: 

➢ Significant financial difficulty of the counterparty; 

➢ A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 

➢ The lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons 

relating to the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having granted to the 

borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; 

and 

➢ It is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganization. 

➢ Simplified Approach 

The Group always measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses for contract receivables. The Group determines that a 

financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a 

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have 

occurred. 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about 

the following events: 

• Significant financial difficulty of the counterparty; 

• A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; 

• The lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual reasons 

relating to the counterparty’s financial difficulty, having granted to the 

counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 

consider; and 

• It is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter bankruptcy or other 

financial reorganization. 

4.02.06 Derecognition 

The Group derecognizes a financial asset when, and only when the contractual rights 

to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or it transfers the financial asset and 

the transfer qualifies for derecognition. The difference between the carrying amount 

and the consideration received is recognized in profit or loss. 

4.02.07 Write-off 

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when the 

Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or 

a portion thereof. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. 
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4.03 Real Estate Inventories  

Real estate inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value.   

Costs are determined using the specific-identification method. Net realizable value 

represents the estimated selling price for real estate inventories less all estimated 

costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 

When the net realizable value of the real estate inventories is lower than the cost, 

the Group provides for an allowance for the decline in the value of the inventory and 

recognizes the write-down as an expense in the statements of comprehensive 

income.   

The amount of any reversal of any write-down of real estate inventories, arising from 

an increase in net realizable value, is recognized as a reduction in the amount of real 

estate inventories recognized as an expense in the period in which the reversal 

occurs. 

When real estate inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those real estate 

inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is 

recognized. 

When real estate inventories are repossessed, any difference between the recoverable 

amount and unrecovered cost shall be recognized as gain or loss on repossession in 

profit or loss. Recoverable amount shall be the fair value less cost to sell of the 

condominium units at the date of repossession.   

4.04 Prepayments and other current assets 

4.04.01 Prepayments 

Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash. These are 

initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid. Subsequently, 

these are charged to profit or loss as they are consumed in operations or expire with 

the passage of time.  

Prepayments are classified in the statements of financial position as current assets 

when the expenses related to prepayments are expected to be incurred within one 

year or the Group’s normal operating cycle whichever is longer. Otherwise, 

prepayments are classified as non-current assets.   

4.04.02 Excess Tax Credits 

Excess tax credit is recognized when the Group paid income tax more than the actual 

amount of payable and/or unused creditable withholding tax carried over for the next 

period. This is classified as asset and measured in the excess of cash paid and income 

tax incurred. This will be applied to future income tax payable in the next period. 

4.04.03 Input VAT 

Input VAT is recognized when the Group pays for a VATable transaction.   

This is initially recorded as an asset and measured at the amount of cash paid.  

Subsequently, this will be offset to by output VAT. 
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4.04.04 Advances to Officers and Employees 

Advances to officers and employees pertain to cash advances granted to officers and 

employees which are subject to liquidation immediately after the commencement of 

business activity to which the advances were issued. These are carried at face amount 

in the consolidated statements of financial position and are recognized to appropriate 

asset account or in profit or loss when these advances are subsequently liquidated. 

4.04.05 Advances to Contractors and Suppliers 

Advances to contractors and suppliers are initially recognized at the amount of cash 

paid and subsequently reclassified to expense upon receipt of the items and services 

which the advances are intended for. 

4.05 Interests in Joint Arrangement 

A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other 

parties have agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exist only when 

decisions about relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties 

sharing.  

The sharing of control is also known as joint control. A joint arrangement can either 

be a joint venture or a joint operation. 

4.05.01 Joint Operation 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties that 

have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligation for the 

liabilities, relating to the arrangement. 

The Group’s share of jointly controlled assets and any liabilities incurred jointly with 

other operators are recognized in the consolidated financial statements of the Group 

and classified according to their nature. Liabilities and expenses incurred directly in 

respect of interests in jointly controlled assets are accounted for on an accrual basis.  

Income from the sale or use of the Group’s share of the output of jointly controlled 

assets, and its share of joint operation expenses, are recognized when it is probable 

that the economic benefits associated with the transactions will flow to/from the 

Group and their amount can be measured reliably. 

Gains and losses from sale or contribution of asset transaction with joint operation 

wherein the Group is a joint operator is recognized to the extent of the other parties’ 

interest in the joint operation and is limited solely to the transaction. The Group fully 

recognizes impairment losses when the transaction provides evidence that the asset 

sold or contributed are impaired in accordance with Note 4.09. 
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4.06 Business Combination 

Business combination is a transaction or event in which an acquirer obtains control of 

one or more businesses. The Company accounts for each business combination by 

applying the acquisition method in accordance with PFRS 3. 

The Company recognizes goodwill as of the acquisition date as the excess of (a) and 

over (b) below: 

a) The aggregate of: 

i. The consideration transferred, which is generally measured at 

acquisition-date fair value; 

ii. The amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree; and 

iii. In a business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair 

value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree. 

b) The net of the acquisition-date amounts the identifiable assets acquired and 

the liabilities assumed. 

Common control combination is a business combination wherein the combining 

entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both 

before and after the business combination, and that control is not transitory.   

This means that the same party or parties have the ultimate control over the 

combining entities or businesses both before and after the business combination. 

The Company applied acquisition method accounting for common control business 

combinations. 

4.07 Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are stated initially at historical cost including expenditure 

that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by Management 

and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any 

accumulated impairment losses.  

The Group adds to the carrying amount of a property and equipment the cost of 

replacing parts of such an item when that cost is incurred if the replacement part is 

expected to provide incremental future benefits to the Group. The carrying amount of 

the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method based on the estimated useful 

lives of the assets as follows: 

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 years 

Transportation equipment 5 years 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed, and 

adjusted prospectively if appropriate, if there is an indication of a significant change 

since the last reporting date.  

Property and equipment are derecognized on disposal or when no future economic 

benefits are expected from its use or disposal.  Gain or loss arising on the disposal or 

retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and 

the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss. 
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An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if 

the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, 

as discussed in Note 4.09. 

4.08 Investment Properties 

Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rentals is measured initially 

at its cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment 

property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss.  

Transfers to, or from, investment property shall be made when, and only when, there 

is a change in use. 

Investment property is derecognized by the Group upon its disposal or when the 

investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic 

benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 

the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the 

property is derecognized. 

4.09 Impairment of Assets  

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that any of 

its assets other than real estate inventories, and financial assets within the scope of 

PFRS 9, Financial Instruments may have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. Where it is not possible to 

estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a 

reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, assets are also 

allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the 

smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 

allocation basis can be identified. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 

of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less 

than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is 

reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense. 

 When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or 

cash-generating unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 

but the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 

have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or 

cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as 

income. 

4.10 Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are 

incurred. 
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4.11 Financial Liabilities  

4.11.01 Initial Recognition and Measurement 

The Group recognizes a financial liability in its consolidated statements of financial 

position when, and only when, the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions 

of the instrument. 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial liability at its fair value minus, 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the 

liability. 

4.11.02 Classification 

The Group classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at amortized, 

except for: 

• financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; 

• financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify 

for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies; 

• financial guarantee contracts; 

• commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate; and 

• contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. 

The Group’s financial liability measured at amortized cost pertains to trade and other 

payables (except due to government agencies), due to related parties and loans 

payable. 

4.11.03 Derecognition 

The Group removes a financial liability (or part of a financial liability) from its 

consolidated statements of financial position when, and only when, it is extinguished  

(i.e., when the obligation in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired). 

The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability (or part of a 

financial liability) extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration 

paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in 

profit or loss. 

4.12 Contract Liability 

The Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the entity 

has received consideration (or the amount is due) from the customer. This is initially 

recognized at the amount of cash received. Subsequently, this is reclassified to 

revenue upon meeting the criteria of revenue recognition in set forth in Note 4.15. 

4.13 Equity Instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 

an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group 

are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.   
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4.14 Employee Benefits 

4.14.01 Short-term Employee Benefits 

The Group recognizes a liability, net of amounts already paid and an expense for 

services rendered by employees during the accounting period. Short-term employee 

benefits given by the Group to its employees include salaries and wages, SSS, 

PhilHealth and HDMF contributions and other employee benefits. 

4.14.02. Post-employment Benefits 

The Group has no formal retirement plan for its qualified employees. The retirement 

obligations recognized are computed on the basis of the provisions of R.A. 7641.   

The minimum retirement pay due to covered employees is equivalent to one-half 

month salary for every year of service, a fraction of at least six (6) months being 

considered as one (1) whole year. 

"One-half (1/2) month salary" includes all of the following: 

a. Fifteen (15) days salary based on the latest salary rate;  

b. Cash equivalent of five (5) days or service incentive leave (or vacation leave); 

and  

c. One-twelfth (1/12) of the 13th month pay (where the 13th month pay is the total 

basic salary for the last twelve months of service divided by twelve (12). 

In measuring its defined benefit obligation, the Group includes both vested and 

unvested benefits. Also, the following bases were used: 

• estimated future salary increases are ignored; 

• future service of current employees is not considered; and 

• possible in-service mortality of current employees between the reporting date 

and the date employees are expected to begin receiving post-employment 

benefits are ignored, except for mortality after service. 

In the periods between comprehensive actuarial valuations, if the principal actuarial 

assumptions have not changed significantly the defined benefit obligation is 

measured by adjusting the prior period measurement for changes in employee 

demographics such as number of employees and salary levels. 

4.15 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

4.15.01 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation, whether legal or 

constructive, as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required 

to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 

required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into 

account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 

measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
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When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected 

to be recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is 

virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable 

can be measured reliably. 

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best 

estimate. 

4.15.02 Contingent Liabilities  

Contingent liabilities are not recognized because their existence will be confirmed 

only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 

wholly within the control of the Group. 

Contingent liabilities are disclosed, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits is remote. 

4.16 Revenue Recognition 

The Group recognizes revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance 

obligation by transferring a promised good or service (i.e., asset) to a customer.   

An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. 

The Group derives its revenues from sale of property under pre-completion 

contracts. 

4.16.01 Performance Obligations Satisfied Over Time 

The Group transfers control of goods over time and, therefore, satisfies a 

performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time when the Group’s 

performance creates an asset and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for 

performance completed to date. 

The Group generates revenue from real estate sales. Revenue from the sale of real 

estate projects under pre-completion stage is recognized over time during the 

construction period or its percentage of completion, since based on the terms and 

conditions of its contract with the buyers, the Group’s performance does not create an 

asset with an alternative use and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for 

performance completed to date. 

In measuring the progress of its performance obligation over time, the Group uses 

input method. Input methods recognize revenue on the basis of the entity’s efforts or 

inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation.  

Progress is measured based on actual resources consumed such as materials,  

labor hours expended and actual overhead incurred relative to the total expected 

inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation, or the total estimated 

development costs of the real estate project. The Group uses the costs accumulated 

by the accounting department to determine the actual resources used. Input method 

excludes the effects of any inputs that do not depict the entity’s performance of 

transferring control of goods or services to the customer.  

Estimated development costs of the real estate project include costs of land,  

land development, building costs, professional fees, depreciation of equipment 

directly used in the construction, payments for permits and licenses. Revisions in 

estimated development costs brought about by increases in projected costs in excess 

of the original budgeted amounts, form part of total project costs on a prospective 

basis. 
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Any excess of collections over the recognized revenues is included in the  

“Contract liabilities and tenant’s deposit” account in the consolidated statements of 

financial position. If any other criteria under the full accrual method is not met,  

the deposit method is applied until all the conditions for recording a sale are met. 

Pending recognition of sale, cash received from buyers are presented as a liability in 

the consolidated statement of financial position.  

For income tax purposes, full recognition is applied when more than 25% of the 

selling price has been collected in the year of sale. Otherwise, the installment 

method is applied. 

4.16.02 Principal versus Agent Considerations  

The Group should determine whether it is a principal or an agent in a transaction 

through the nature of its promise in a performance obligation.  

The Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation 

to provide a specified service itself (i.e., the Group is a principal) or to arrange for the 

other party to provide those services (i.e., the Group is an agent). 

The Group is a principal if it controls a promised service before it transfers the service 

to a customer. It recognizes revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which it 

expects to be entitled in exchange for those services transferred. 

An entity is an agent if the entity’s performance obligation is to arrange for the 

provision of goods or services by another party. When an entity that is an agent 

satisfies a performance obligation, the entity recognizes revenue in the amount of any 

fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the 

other party to provide its goods or services. An entity’s fee or commission might be 

the net amount of consideration that the entity retains after paying the other party the 

consideration received in exchange for the goods or services to be provided by that 

party. 

4.16.03 Finance Income 

Finance income is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 

to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Finance income is 

accrued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at 

the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 

carrying amount on initial recognition.   

4.16.04 Rental Income 

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue from operating leases is disclosed in  

Note 4.18. 

4.17 Expense Recognition 

Expense encompasses losses as well as those expenses that arise in the course of the 

ordinary activities of the Group.  

The Group recognizes expenses in the consolidated statements of comprehensive 

income when a decrease in future economic benefits related to a decrease in an 

asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 
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4.18 Leases 

4.18.01 The Group as a Lessor 

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

4.18.02 The Group as a Lessee 

The Group considers whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as a 

contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset  

(the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for a consideration. To apply 

this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations, 

which are whether: 

• The contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in 

the contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is 

made available to the Group. 

• The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits 

from use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its 

rights within the defined scope of the contract. 

• The Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the 

period of use. The Group assesses whether it has the right to direct how and 

for what purpose the asset is used throughout the period of use. 

4.19 Related Parties and Related Party Transactions 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Company that is preparing 

its consolidated financial statements. A person or a close member of that person’s 

family is related to the Company if that person has control or joint control over the 

Company, has significant influence over the Company, or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the Company or of a parent of the Company. 

An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies: 

• The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means 

that each parent, subsidiary, and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 

• One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate 

or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a 

member). 

• Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

• One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 

associate of the third entity. 

• The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 

either the Company or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is 

itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the Company. 

• The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified above. 

• A person identified above has significant influence over the entity or is a 

member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 

entity). 
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• Management entity providing key management personnel services to a 

reporting entity. 

Close members of the family of a person are those family members, who may be 

expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the 

Company and include that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; 

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and dependents of that person 

or that person’s spouse or domestic partner. 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services, or obligations between 

related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

4.20 Taxation 

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and deferred taxes. 

4.20.01 Current Tax 

The current tax is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 

profit as reported in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income because 

of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 

that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated 

using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period. 

4.20.02 Deferred Tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding 

tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are 

generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 

generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused 

tax credits from excess Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT) over Regular 

Corporate Income Tax (RCIT) and unused Net Operating Loss Carry-over (NOLCO), to 

the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those 

deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused MCIT and unused 

NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred income tax, however, is not recognized when it 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and, at the time of the transaction that affects neither the 

accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 

assets arising from deductible temporary differences are only recognized to the extent 

that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize 

the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the 

foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 

profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 

apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax 

rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the 

tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at 

the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 

and liabilities.  
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 

set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income 

taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current 

tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

4.20.03 Current and Deferred Taxes for the Period 

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as an expense or income in profit or loss, 

except when they relate to items that are recognized outside profit or loss, whether in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the tax is also 

recognized outside profit or loss. 

4.20.04 Impact of Change in Tax Regime 

Components of tax expense include any adjustments recognized in the period for 

current tax of prior period and the amount of deferred tax expense (income) relating 

to changes in tax rates. The provision for current income tax during the year include 

the difference between income tax per prior year consolidated financial statements 

and prior year income tax return.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as of reporting period is remeasured using the new 

tax rates. The impact of remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss (i.e., provision 

for/benefit from deferred income tax), unless it can be recognized in other 

comprehensive income or another equity account as provided for in PAS 12.61A.  

Any movement in deferred taxes arising from the change in tax rates that will form 

part of the provision for/benefit from deferred taxes will be included as well in the 

effective tax rate reconciliation. 

4.21 Events after the Reporting Period 

The Group identifies subsequent events as events that occurred after the reporting 

period but before the date when the consolidated financial statements were 

authorized for issue. Any subsequent events that provide additional information 

about the Group’s position at the reporting period, adjusting events, are reflected in 

the consolidated financial statements, while subsequent events that do not require 

adjustments,  

non-adjusting events, are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements 

when material. 

4.22 Prior Period Errors 

The Group corrects material prior period errors retrospectively in the first set of 

financial statements authorized for issue after their discovery by: (a) restating the 

comparative amounts for the prior period presented in which the error occurred;  

or (b) if the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented, restating the 

opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest prior period 

presented. 

4.23 Changes in Accounting Policies  

The adoption of the new and revised standards and interpretations disclosed in  

Note 2.01 was made in accordance with their transitional provisions, otherwise the 

adoption is accounted for as change in accounting policy under PAS 8, “Accounting 

 Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”.  
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

UNCERTAINTIES 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 4, 

Management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 

sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 

differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate 

is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and 

future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

5.01 Critical Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving estimations that 

Management has made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and 

that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in consolidated 

financial statements. 

5.01.01 Critical Judgment on Revenue Recognition 

Revenue recognition on sale of condominium units under pre-completion contract on 

the basis of Philippine Interpretations Committee Q&A 2006-01, Revenue Recognition 
for Sales of Property Units under Pre-completion Contracts, the percentage-of-

completion (POC) method is used to recognize income from sales of real estate 

properties when the Group has material obligations under the sales contract to 

complete the project after the property is sold. The Group starts recognizing revenue 

under the POC method upon commencement of the Contract to Sell. Contract to Sell 

shall commence when substantial evidence is obtained to support good credit 

standing of the buyer.    

Under this method, revenue on sale is recognized as the related obligations are 

fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion of a physical 

proportion of the contract work. 

If the criteria of POC method is not satisfied, any cash received by the Group is 

recorded as part of “customers’ deposits” account which is included under “contract 

liabilities and tenants’ deposit” in the consolidated statements of financial position 

until all the conditions for recognizing the sale are met. 

Cost of real estate sales is recognized consistent with the revenue recognition method 

applied. Cost of real estate properties sold before completion is determined using the 

POC used for revenue recognition applied on the acquisition cost of the land plus the 

total estimated development costs of the property. The cost of inventory recognized 

in profit or loss on disposal (cost of real estate sales) is determined with reference to 

the specific and allocated costs incurred on the sold property taking into account the 

POC.  
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The Group opted to adopt the relief to the real estate industry by deferring the 

application of the provisions of the PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 with respect to the 

accounting for significant financing component, uninstalled materials, benefits given 

to sales agents and incremental cost of obtaining the contract and the exclusion of 

land in the calculation of percentage of completion (POC), for a period of three (3) 

years starting January 1, 2021. 

5.01.02 Assessment of Control 

The Parent Company determines whether an entity qualifies as a subsidiary when it 

has control over an entity. The Parent Company controls an entity when it has the 

three (3) elements of control as disclosed in Note 4.06. In making its judgments,  

the Parent Company considers all facts and circumstances when assessing control 

over an investee. 

A reassessment of control is conducted when there are changes to one (1) or more of 

the three elements of control. Any changes from at least one of the elements would 

result to lose or gain of control over an entity. 

The Parent Company, having 100% ownership and voting interest, assessed that it 

has control over its subsidiaries since it has power over the subsidiaries, exposure or 

rights to variable returns from its involvement and ability to use its power to affect 

the component of its returns.  

5.01.03 Assessment of Going Concern Issue 

When preparing consolidated financial statements, Management makes an 

assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Group prepares 

consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless Management 

either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease leasing or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so.   

When Management is aware in making its assessment of material uncertainties 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern, the Group discloses those uncertainties.  In 

assessing whether the going concern assumption is appropriate, Management takes 

into account all available information about the future, which is at least, but is not 

limited to, twelve (12) months from the end of the reporting period.  The degree of 

consideration depends on the facts in each case.  Management may need to consider 

a wide range of factors relating to current and expected profitability, debt repayment 

schedules and potential sources of replacement financing before it can satisfy itself 

that the going concern basis is appropriate. 

The Group has deficit of P1,873,520,914 and P1,789,878,894 as of December 31, 2021 

and 2020, respectively, resulting to capital deficiency of P347,820,914 and 

P264,178,894 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. These conditions 

indicate the existence of uncertainties, which may affect the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. The Management decided to submit to the Court a 

petition for corporate rehabilitation to set up a business environment that will allow 

the Group to adapt to its current state of affairs and eventually rise from its present 

financial condition, as disclosed in Note 1.  
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5.01.04 Assessment of Contractual Terms of a Financial Asset 

The Group determines whether the contractual terms of a financial asset give rise on a 

specified date to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding. In making its judgments, the Group considers whether 

the cash flows before and after the changes in timing or in the amount of payments 

represent only payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding. 

Management assessed that the contractual terms of its financial assets are solely 

payments of principal and interest and consistent with the basic lending arrangement. 

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial 

assets at amortized cost are P356,091,543 and P354,757,487, respectively,  

as disclosed in Note 30.02. 

5.01.05 Non-application of Projected Unit Credit Method 

Under PAS 19, the present value of the defined benefit obligation should be 

determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method (PUCM). Valuation should be 

carried out with sufficient regularity such that the amounts recognized in the 

consolidated financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 

determined at the statement of condition date. 

In applying the above guidelines, the Group considered to fully adopt the 

requirements. The Group believes that the assumptions used in its retirement benefit 

plan are reasonable and appropriate and the impact of difference in assumption is 

minimal. These assumptions are described in Note 24. Retirement benefits obligation 

as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 amounted to P1,872,413, as disclosed in Note 24. 

5.01.06 Assessment of Principal-Agency Arrangement 

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the 

entity shall determine whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation 

to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e., the entity is a principal) or to 

arrange for the other party to provide those goods or services (i.e., the entity is an 

agent). 

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Group assessed that it is acting as a principal and 

recognized sales commission from principal relationship amounting to P13,023,540, 

P5,530,552 and P7,424,015, respectively, as disclosed in Note 22. 

5.01.07 Assessment of Joint Control 

An entity that is a party to an arrangement shall assess whether the contractual 

arrangement gives all the parties, or a group of the parties, control of the 

arrangement collectively. All the parties, or a group of the parties, control the 

arrangement collectively when they must act together to direct the activities that 

significantly affect the returns of the arrangement (i.e., the relevant activities).  

Management assessed that the parties have joint control over the arrangement since 

both parties promulgate its own rules and procedures in the early resolution of 

concerns and issues affecting the Joint Venture, as disclosed in Note 12.  

The Group is also responsible with the relevant activities of the arrangement being 

the agent of the Joint Venture but still subject for approval and consent of the parties. 

Thus, unanimous consent is still required.  
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5.01.08 Assessment of Classification of Joint Arrangement 

An entity applies judgement when assessing whether a joint arrangement is a joint 

operation or a joint venture. An entity shall determine the type of joint arrangement in 

which it is involved by considering its rights and obligations arising from the 

arrangement. An entity assesses its rights and obligations by considering the 

structure and legal form of the arrangement, the terms agreed by the parties in the 

contractual arrangement and, when relevant, other facts and circumstances. 

Management assessed that the joint arrangement is a joint operation. A joint 

operation involves the use of assets and other resources of the Group and other 

venturers rather than establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity. The 

Group accounts for the assets it controls, and the liabilities and expenses it incurs, 

and the share of the income that it earns from the sale of goods, properties or 

services by the joint operation. The assets contributed by the Group to the joint 

operation are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. 

The Group’s several outstanding joint arrangements are disclosed in Note 12. 

5.01.09 Assessment of Timing of Satisfaction of Performance Obligations 

An entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of a promised 

good or service to the customer, which could occur over time or at a point in time.  

Management assessed that performance obligation is satisfied over time for its sale 

of real estate inventories, that is when the Group’s performance creates an asset and 

the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, revenue from sale of real estate inventories amounted to 

P338,360,725, P280,873,910 and P169,635,311, respectively, as disclosed in Note 19. 

5.01.10 Assessment of the Allocation of Transaction Price to Performance Obligations 

A performance obligation is a vendor’s promise to transfer a good or service that is 

‘distinct’ from other goods and services identified in the contract.   

Management assessed that allocation of transaction price to performance obligation 

is not applicable because there is only one performance obligation in each of the 

contract to sell which is the obligation to deliver the unit duly constructed in a specific 

lot and fully integrated into the land in accordance with the approved plan. 

5.01.11 Assessment of 30 Days Rebuttable Presumption 

An entity determines when a significant increase in credit risk occurs on its financial 

assets based on the credit management practice of the entity. 

Management believes that the 30 days rebuttable presumption on determining 

whether financial assets has significant increase in credit risk is not applicable 

because based on Group’s historical experience credit risk has not increased 

significantly even if collections are more than 30 days past due. 

5.01.12 Assessment of 90 Days Rebuttable Presumption 

An entity determines when a default occurs on its financial assets based on the credit 

management practice of the entity. 

Management believes that the 90 days rebuttable presumption on determining 

whether financial assets are credit impaired is not applicable since based on the 

Group’s historical experience past due amounts even over 90 days are still collectible.  
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5.01.13 Determining whether or not a Contract Contains a Lease 

Lease arrangement entered for the use of office space contain lease because the asset 

is identified. The Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic 

benefits from use of the identified asset and has the right to direct the use of the 

identified asset. 

5.01.14 Determining whether or not it is Reasonably Certain that an Extension Option 

will be Exercised and Termination Option will not be Exercised 

Lease term is the non-cancellable period for which the Group has the right to use an 

underlying asset including optional periods when the Group is reasonably certain to 

exercise an option to extend a lease. The Group considers all relevant facts and 

circumstances that create an economic incentive for the lessee to exercise the option 

when determining the lease term and the enforceability of the option.   

The option to extend the lease term should be included in the lease term if it is 

reasonably certain that the lessee will exercise the option and the option is 

enforceable. The Group is required to reassess the option when significant events or 

changes in circumstances occur that are within the control of the lessee.  

For lease of office space, Management assessed that the extension option is not 

enforceable since the Group cannot enforce the extension of the lease without the 

agreement of the lessor. 

5.02 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainties 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources 

of estimation uncertainties at the end of the reporting periods that have a significant 

risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

within the next financial year. 

5.02.01 Revenue Recognition and Measure of Progress 

The Group concluded that revenue for real estate sales is to be recognized over time 

because the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use; 

and the Group has an enforceable right for the performance completed to date.   

The promised property is specifically identified in the contract and the contractual 

restriction on the Group’s ability to direct the promised property for another use is 

substantive. This is because the property promised to the customer is not 

interchangeable with other properties without breaching the contract and without 

incurring significant costs that otherwise would not have been incurred in relation to 

the contract. In addition, under the current legal framework, the customer is 

contractually obliged to make payments to the redeveloper up to the performance 

completed to date. 

The Group has determined that input method used in measuring the progress of the 

performance obligation faithfully depicts the Group’s performance in transferring 

control of real estate development to the customers. 

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, revenue recognized from sale of real estates amounted 

P338,360,725, P280,873,910 and P169,635,311, respectively, as disclosed in  

Note 19. 
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5.02.02 Estimating Allowance for Expected Credit Losses  

The Group evaluates the expected credit losses based on an individual assessment.  

The Group determines that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when 

there is a significant decline in the factors. 

The Group assessed the expected credit losses on its cash in banks by considering 

the credit ratings of banks, performance of banking industry, macro-economic and 

financial highlights. In view of the foregoing factors, Management believes that the 

allowance for expected credit losses is nil as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, as 

disclosed in Note 30.02.   

After considering the macro-economic factors such as GDP, interest rate, inflation 

rates including the industry and financial information of the Group’s debtors,  

the Management assessed that there is no significant increase in credit risk in its 

contracts and other receivables. As such, allowance for expected credit losses 

amounted to P33,786,548 and P36,814,862 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively, as disclosed in Notes 7 and 30.02. During the year, the reversal of 

allowance for expected credit losses amounted to P3,028,314, as disclosed in Note 7.  

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of the financial assets 

measured at amortized cost amounted to P356,091,543 and P354,757,487, 

respectively, as disclosed in Note 30.02. 

5.02.03 Estimating Real Estate Inventories at Net Realizable Value 

Net realizable values of real estate inventories are assessed regularly based on the 

prevailing selling prices of real estate inventories less estimated costs to sell.  

The Group recognizes expense and provides allowance for decline in value of real 

estate inventories whenever net realizable value of real estate inventories becomes 

lower than cost due to damage, physical deterioration, obsolescence, changes on 

price levels or other causes. Inventory items identified to be obsolete and unusable is 

written-off and charged against allowance account. Increase in the net realizable 

values will increase the carrying amount of real estate inventories but only to the 

extent of their original acquisition costs. 

In both years, Management believes that the net realizable values of the Group’s real 

estate inventories do not approximate to their cost; hence, allowance for decline in 

value is recognized. The allowance for impairment losses pertaining to raw and 

subdivided land that are no longer usable in the development of real estates 

amounted to P166,278,310 and P66,532,460, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, 

respectively, as disclosed in Note 8. As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, 

the Group recognized provision for decline in value amounting to P99,745,850, nil and 

nil, as disclosed in Note 23. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts 

of real estate inventories amounted to P508,326,942 and P608,133,535, respectively, 

as disclosed in Note 8. 
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5.02.04 Reviewing Residual Value, Useful Lives and Depreciation Method of Property 

and Equipment  

The residual value, useful lives and depreciation method of the Group’s property and 

equipment are reviewed at least annually, and adjusted prospectively if appropriate, if 

there is an indication of a significant change in how an asset is used; significant 

unexpected wear and tear; technological advancement; and changes in market prices 

since the most recent annual reporting date. The useful lives of the Group’s assets are 

estimated based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for 

use.   

In determining the useful life of an asset, the Group considers the expected usage, 

expected physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence arising from 

changes or improvements in production, or from a change in the market demand for 

the product or service output and legal or other limits on the use of the Group’s 

assets.  In addition, the estimation of the useful lives is based on Group’s collective 

assessment of industry practice, internal technical evaluation and experience with 

similar assets.   

It is possible, however, that future results of operations could be materially affected 

by changes in estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above.   

The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by 

changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives 

of equipment would increase the recognized operating expenses and decrease  

non-current assets. The Group uses a depreciation method that reflects the pattern in 

which it expects to consume the asset’s future economic benefits. If there is an 

indication that there has been a significant change in the pattern used by which the 

Group expects to consume the asset’s future economic benefits, the Group shall 

review its present depreciation method and, if current expectations differ, change the 

depreciation method to reflect the new pattern. 

In both years, Management assessed that there were no changes from the previous 

estimates since the most recent annual reporting period. As of December 31, 2021 

and 2020, the carrying amounts of property and equipment amounted to P355,929 

and P281,847, respectively, as disclosed in Note 10.  

5.02.05 Asset Impairment 

The Group performs an impairment review when certain impairment indicators are 

present. Determining the fair value of prepayments and other current assets  

(except deposits), and property and equipment which requires the determination of 

future cash flows expected to be generated from the continued use and ultimate 

disposition of such assets, requires the Group to make estimates and assumptions 

that can materially affect the consolidated financial statements. Any resulting 

impairment loss could have a material adverse impact on the financial condition and 

results of operations. 

The preparation of the estimated future cash flows involves significant judgment and 

estimations. While the Group believes that its assumptions are appropriate and 

reasonable, significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect the 

assessment of recoverable values and may lead to future additional impairment 

charges under PFRS. 

The Group has recognized an allowance for impairment losses against its advances to 

officers and employees and others account presented in ‘prepayments and other 

current assets’ because historical experience shows that their collectability is 

uncertain 
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In both years, aside from advances to officers and employees and others account 

presented in ‘prepayments and other current assets’ Management believes that there 

are no impairment indicators that exist on prepayment and other current assets  

(except deposits) and property and equipment. During the year, the provision for 

probable losses on prepayments and other current assets amounted to P1,356,750,  

as disclosed in Notes 9 and 23.  

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the aggregate carrying amount of the 

aforementioned asset amounted to P203,218,905 and P213,078,692, respectively, as 

disclosed in Notes 9 and 10. 

5.02.06 Deferred Tax Assets 

The Group reviews the carrying amounts at each reporting date and reduces deferred 

tax assets to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will 

be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. 

In both years, the Group did not recognize the deferred tax assets because of the 

uncertainty that the future deductible expenses such as allowance for expected credit 

losses, impairment loss and retirement benefit obligation will meet the requirements 

to be deductible in the future and MCIT will be utilized prior to expiration. As of  

December 31, 2021 and 2020, unrecognized deferred tax assets amounted to 

P57,629,083 and P36,672,481, respectively, as disclosed in Note 27.  

5.02.07 Estimating Provisions and Evaluating Contingencies  

The estimate of the probable costs for the resolution of possible claims has been 

developed in consultation with legal counsel handling these matters and is based 

upon an analysis of potential results. The Parent Company is a party to the following 

claims arising from the ordinary course of business.  

• Puyat Floorings Products Inc. Versus the Company. The collection of 

settlement from RTC Branch 59, Makati City is still pending until court’s 

decision.  

The estimated financial settlement is around P2,703,715. Decision rendered is 

in favor of the Plaintiff but the Company filed its timely Motion for 

Reconsideration and subsequently for appeal to Court of Appeals. 

• Petition for Issuance of New Title No. 33766. Decision was rendered in favor of 

the Company granting the Petition on May 17, 2022. 

• Petition for Correction of Entries in TCT Nos. 122674, 122746, 122507- RTC  Br 
6-Tanauan City. The case pertains to correction of clerical errors in the titles 

which are jurisdictional in character. Decision was rendered in favor of the 

Company granting the Petition dated May 25, 2022. 

• Criminal Cases versus Spouses Erano and Josephine Esteban. This is a case 

involving qualified theft and/or extortion which is pending for resolution 

before the office of City Prosecutor of Santo Tomas, Batangas.  

• Labor Case for illegal Dismissal-Josephine D. Esteban Vs Philtown. Status is 

pending trial at NLRC –RAB-IVA – Calamba City.  

However, the Group’s Management and legal counsel believe that the eventual 

liabilities under these claims if any, will not have a material effect on the consolidated 

financial statements.   

Project development commitment which pertains to the agreed development 

commitment on Tagaytay Heights and Woodlands amounting to P26,751,896.  

The amount is recognized because Management believes that the project will be 

fulfilled. 
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6. CASH 

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash includes cash on 

hand and in banks. 

Cash at the end of the reporting periods as shown in the consolidated statements of 

cash flows can be reconciled to the related item in the consolidated statements of 

financial position as follows: 

           2021              2020 

Cash on hand  P 457,108   P 362,699  

Cash in banks   66,659,458   18,817,997 

 P 67,116,566 P 19,180,696 

Cash in banks earn interest at floating interest rates based on the daily bank deposit 

rates. Finance income from banks amounted to P39,808, P21,458 and P36,553 in 2021, 

2020 and 2019, respectively, as disclosed in Note 21. 

7. CONTRACTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLE – net  

The Group’s contracts and other receivable consist of: 

            2021           2020 

Contracts receivable P 294,311,480   P 330,466,067   

Less: Allowance for expected credit losses  

   (Note 30.02)  33,786,548  36,814,862  

  260,524,932  293,651,205 

Others  13,748,515   9,171,046  

 P 274,273,447 P 302,822,251 

Contracts receivable represent amounts collectible from various customers on the 

sale of condominium units, subdivided land, raw land, property under development 

and parking lot. These are generally collectible in monthly installments over a period 

of one (1) to three (3) years. 

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Group earned finance income from installment on its 

contracts receivable amounting to P1,968, P217,355 and P98,787, respectively,  

as disclosed in Note 21. 

Movement of allowance for expected credit losses is as follows:  

           2021            2020 

Balance at January 1 P 36,814,862 P 36,814,862 

Reversal of allowance for expected credit 

losses (Note 21)  (3,028,314)  - 

Balance at December 31  P 33,786,548 P 36,814,862 
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In determining the recoverability of contracts and other receivables, the Group 

considers any change in the credit quality of the accounts and other receivables from 

the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of 

credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated.   

Others pertain to commissions fees, claims, other condominium charges for buyers 

and retention agreement with HDMF. 

The titles over the Condominium units are held as collateral by the Group until the 

contract receivable is fully paid. 

In both years, Management believes that recoverability of some of its receivables is 

uncertain. Thus, allowance for expected credit losses was recognized. 

8. REAL ESTATE INVENTORIES – net  

Details of the Group’s real estate inventories are as follows: 

            2021            2020 

Real estate for sale     

   Condominium and residential units  P 52,522,122   P 57,215,833   

   Subdivided land  421,062,299    393,365,910   

   Raw land  201,020,831    224,084,252     

  674,605,252  674,665,995 

Less: Allowance for impairment losses  166,278,310    66,532,460  

 P 508,326,942 P 608,133,535 

Condominium and residential units include completed units which are located in 

Pasig City, Quezon City and unfinished structure located in Makati City. 

Subdivided land and raw land pertain to parcels of land located in Tanauan City and 

Sto. Tomas, Batangas and are readily available for sale.  

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the outstanding balance for the purchase of raw 

land amounted to P18,889,799 and P18,695,643, respectively as disclosed in  

Note 13. 

The subdivided land with aggregate carrying amount of P65,165,602 and 

P148,966,129 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, were used as collateral 

to secure the loans payable, as disclosed in Note 14. 

In 2020, in relation to the termination of the Group’s joint venture agreement (JVA) 

with The Metropolitan Club Inc., the Group transferred the unfinished structure of the 

JVA amounting to P558,029,964 to its assignee, as disclosed in Note 12. 

The cost of real estate inventories recognized as expense amounted to P237,927,250, 

P180,424,776 and P99,935,960, in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, as disclosed in 

Note 20. 

In both years, Management believes that the net realizable values of the Group’s real 

estate inventories do not approximate to their cost; hence, allowance for decline in 

value is recognized. The allowance for impairment losses pertains to raw and 

subdivided land that are no longer usable in the development of real estates.  
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Movement of allowance for impairment losses on real estate inventories is as follows:  

         2021         2020 

Balance at January 1 P 66,532,460 P 66,532,460 

Provision for decline in value (Note 23)  99,745,850  - 

Balance at December 31  P 166,278,310 P 66,532,460 

During the year, the Group recognized provision for decline in value due to raw and 

subdivided land that are no longer usable in the development of real estates.  

The details of allowance for impairment losses on real estate inventories are as 

follows: 

          2021              2020 

Subdivided land  P  41,940,561 P    1,506,223  

Raw land  117,445,616  65,026,237 

Condominium unit  6,892,133   - 

 P 166,278,310 P 66,532,460 

Inventories are expected to be recovered within the normal operating cycle. The net 

realizable value of inventories approximates its carrying amount.  

9. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS – net   

The details of the Group’s prepayments and other current assets are shown below: 

          2021               2020 

Prepaid expenses P - P 46,282 

Excess tax credits  201,011,943   200,065,639 

Advances to officers and employees  12,815,918    9,037,280   

Deposits   6,222,755    6,176,473    

Input VAT – net  5,355,181    11,099,732    

Advances to contractors and suppliers  672,829    6,835,517  

Others  635,723     1,984,263  

  226,714,349  235,245,186 

Less: Allowance for impairment losses  17,628,618   16,271,868  

 P 209,085,731 P 218,973,318 

Prepaid expenses pertain to prepayment on taxes, permits, licenses and insurance.  

Excess tax credits pertain to creditable withholding tax certificates obtained from the 

Group’s customers and overpayment of income taxes in prior years. 

Advances to officers and employees pertains to advances made by the employees 

and are generally liquidated within a year. 

Advances to contractors and supplier pertains to advance payment made by the 

Group to its the developer and supplier for a related project. 

Others pertain to other deferred charges.  
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In 2019, the Group has written-off impaired other current assets amounting to 

P734,863, as disclosed in Note 22.  

Movement of allowance for impairment losses is as follows:  

             2021             2020 

Balance at January 1 P 16,271,868 P 16,271,868 

Provision for impairment losses  

(Note 23)  1,356,750  - 

Balance at December 31  P 17,628,618 P 16,271,868 

The Group recognized allowance for impairment losses against the following 

accounts because historical experience shows that their recoverability is uncertain: 

            2021                  2020 

Advances to officers and employees P 12,815,918    9,037,280   

Others  4,812,700  7,234,588 

 P 17,628,618 P 16,271,868 

10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT – net 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s property and equipment are as follows: 

  

Furniture, Fixtures 

and Office 

Equipment 

Transportation 

Equipment    Total 

January 1, 2020       

Cost   P

  
      1,463,005 P       1,157,101 P 2,620,106 

Accumulated depreciation  (1,304,858)  (1,157,101)   (2,461,959)  

Carrying amount  158,147  -   158,147 

Movements during 2020     

Balance at January 1, 2020 158,147  -   158,147 

Additions 338,195  -   338,195 

Depreciation (Note 21)  (214,495)  -   (214,495) 

Carrying amount  281,847  -   281,847 

December 31, 2020       

Cost    1,801,200  1,157,101  2,958,301 

Accumulated depreciation  (1,519,353)  (1,157,101)   (2,676,454)  

Carrying amount  281,847  -   281,847 

Movements during 2021     

Balance, January 1, 2021 281,847  -   281,847 

Additions  172,096   -   172,096  

Depreciation (Note 21)  (98,014)   -   (98,014)  

Carrying amount  355,929  -   355,929 

December 31, 2021       

Cost    1,973,296  1,157,101  3,130,397  

Accumulated depreciation  (1,617,367)   (1,157,101)   (2,774,468)  

Carrying amount P 355,929 P -   P 355,929 
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Proceeds from sale of property and equipment amounted to nil, nil and P176,738 in 

2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. No sale of property and equipment was made in 

2021 and 2020.  

Additions in both years were all paid in cash. 

Transportation equipment that is fully depreciated is still being used by the Group in 

both years. 

Management assessed that there were no indications of impairment have existed on 

its property and equipment. 

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

The carrying amounts of the investment properties pertaining to parcels of land 

located in Tanauan, Batangas, amounted to P20,479,596 as of December 31, 2021 and 

2020.  

The aggregate fair value of investment properties amounted to P25.8 million as at 

December 31, 2021 and 2020.  

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties has been arrived on the basis of a 

valuation carried out on March 10, 2016. The valuation was arrived at by reference to 

sales comparison approach valuation model. Sales comparison approach involves the 

comparison of the land to those that are more or less located within the vicinity of the 

appraised property and are subject of recent sales and offerings. The fair value 

measurement of investment properties for disclosure properties has been categorized 

as  Level 2.  

12. JOINT OPERATION AGREEMENT 

12.01 Holiday Homes, Inc. (HHI) 

On June 2, 2014, the Group entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) with HHI 

whereby the Group contributed three (3) parcels of land situated in Tanauan City, 

Batangas with an aggregate area of 193,776 square meters to be developed by HHI 

into residential subdivisions. The net saleable area is allocated between the parties on 

a 60/40 basis in favor of HHI. 

The property is mortgaged to United Coconut Planters Life Assurance Corporation 

(“COCOLIFE”) through a Mortgage Trust Indenture (MTI) with Banco De Oro (BDO),  

as disclosed in Notes 8 and 14. 

The construction of the project is on-going. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020,  

the carrying value of the project under this agreement amounted to P80,831,185 and 

P180,646,762, respectively. 

12.02 C – Belle Property Development (C – Belle) 

On May 14, 2008, the Group entered into a JVA with C – Belle whereby the Group 

contributed its land in Sto. Tomas, Batangas to be developed by C – Belle into a 

residential subdivision. The net saleable area is allocated between the parties on a 

72/28 basis in favor of C – Belle.  

The construction of the project is on-going. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020,  

the carrying value of the project under this agreement amounted to P148,941,091 and 

P128,495,241, respectively. 
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12.03 Filinvest Land Corporation (Filinvest) 

The Group has an existing JVA with Filinvest whereby the Group contributed its land 

in Loyola Heights, Quezon City and Filinvest developed a condominium building on 

such land. Filinvest is responsible for planning, construction, financing, and 

marketing.  

The net saleable units are allocated between the parties in a 11/89 basis in favor of 

Filinvest. 

The condominium building was completed in 2016. The carrying amount of the 

contributed land amounted to P55,123,515. The Group’s saleable unit amounted to 

P23,298,583 and P26,028,811 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

12.04 The Metropolitan Club, Inc. (Metroclub) 

In 2005, the Group entered into a JVA with Metroclub whereby the Group would 

develop and construct a high-rise building “The Metropolitan Tower”, on the land 

contributed by Metroclub. However, in 2008, the construction of the Project was 

suspended due to liquidity concern. 

On December 18, 2019, the Group and Metroclub entered into a Memorandum of 

Agreement (MOA), whereby both parties agreed to terminate the JVA.  

The development of the project will no longer be pursued and Metroclub will transfer 

and convey the title over the land contributed and the unfinished structure to the 

designated transferee of the Group. The MOA also provides for the Group to fully pay 

the unit buyers and its contractors, service provider, suppliers, professionals and 

consultant engaged related to the project.  

The consideration received from the designated transferee was used to pay off the 

Group’s liabilities related to the Project. 

In 2020, the Group transferred the unfinished structure amounting to P558,029,964 to 

its assignee as disclosed in Note 8. Below are the details of the gain on assignment 

recognized as disclosed in Note 21: 

Consideration received P 600,000,000 

Less:   

Book value of the transferred property (Note 8)  558,029,964 

Accrued expenses transferred  35,413,956 

Gain on assignment P 6,556,080 
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13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

The components of trade and other payables account are as follows: 

 

      2021 

    2020 

(As Restated) 

Trade  P 120,386,806   P 139,695,833   

Accrued interest (Note 16)  332,622,650     367,024,981  

Titling fees payable  199,054,976   179,709,390  

Accrued expenses  120,361,164     117,554,890 

Refund payable (Note 15)  66,846,888    68,063,784  

Payable for the purchase of land (Note 8)  18,889,799    18,695,643  

Due to government agencies  4,835,882    2,369,504 

Retention payable  -  8,036,750  

Others  46,778,910      30,246,119  

 P 909,777,075 P 931,396,894 

Trade payables arise from normal operating expenses incurred by the Group which 

mainly consist of payables to contractors for the construction of houses and service 

providers. The average credit period on purchases of certain goods from suppliers is 

thirty (30) days.  

Titling fees payable pertains to accruals of cost incurred for the transfer of title of 

land. 

Accrued expenses mainly consist of accruals for advertising, personnel cost and other 

operating expenses which are normally settled in the following year. 

Refund payable pertains to claims for refund of customer’s deposits from the 

cancelled contracts which are due and demandable.  

Payable for the purchase of land pertains to outstanding balance to sellers of raw land 

which are noninterest-bearing and payable in cash upon demand. 

Retention payable pertains to amounts retained by the Group from the contractors’ 

progress billing for the projects, which will be released after the completion and 

satisfaction of the terms and conditions of the construction contract. Since the related 

terms and conditions pertaining to the construction contract was already fulfilled, 

retention payable becomes due as of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

14. LOANS PAYABLE 

Movements of this account are as follows: 

Cocolife            2021         2020 

Balance, January 1 P 105,139,150 P 112,763,842 

Payment  (44,373,733)   (7,624,692) 

Balance, December 31  60,765,417  105,139,150 

Current  60,765,417  - 

Non-current P - P 105,139,150 

Aggregate finance cost incurred and paid amounted to nil, P49,667 and P331,537 in 

2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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14.01 United Coconut Planters Life Assurance Corporation 

In 2006 to 2009, the Group obtained a several loans aggregating to P336,300,000 from 

United Coconut Planters Life Assurance Corporation (“Cocolife”) with twelve percent 

(12%) annual interest to finance the construction of its condominium units and 

subdivision slots in Tanauan, Batangas.  

On September 16, 2015, the Group acknowledged obligation to Cocolife amounting to 

P129,371,631 and offered to settle its obligation from the share of the proceeds of its 

Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) with Holiday Homes, Inc. (HHI) dated June 2, 2014. 

The restructured loan shall be settled by 2022 and in case of a shortfall, the balance 

shall earn interest at six percent (6%) per annum. The Group paid the loan through 

share in the proceeds of JVA amounting to P44,373,333, P7,624,692 and P17,579,961 

in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The subdivided land with aggregate carrying amount of P65,165,602 and 

P148,966,129 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, were used as collateral 

to secure the loans payable, as disclosed in Note 8. 

The terms of the loans with Cocolife also provide for certain covenants which include, 

among others, restriction on sale, transfer, assign, mortgage, lease or otherwise 

encumber or dispose its rights and interest over its JVA with HHI; purchase its issued 

and outstanding shares of stocks; sell its major assets or transfer, assign, mortgage, 

lend or otherwise encumber its major asset or properties; material change in the 

business, ownership control.   

The Group is compliant with the terms and conditions of the borrowing agreements. 

14.02 BDO Unibank, Inc.- Trust and Investments Group 

On July 2, 2010, the Group entered into a Loan Agreement with loan facility in the 

aggregate principal amount of P20,384,400, in order to finance the construction of 

houses and site development of Plantacion del Sol 1-1A (PDS 1-1A) subdivision in 

Tanuan, Batangas. 

In 2018, the loan term and repayment date were extended until December 31, 2019.  

From January 1, 2019 until full payment of the loan, the interest shall be 9.576% per 

annum. The Group paid loan amounting to P974,264 and P4,411,419 in 2020 and 

2019, respectively. The loan was fully paid in 2020.   

The Group is compliant with the terms and conditions of the borrowing agreements. 

14.03 Holiday Homes, Inc. 

Holiday Homes, Inc. availed loan from Pag-ibig Fund through House Construction 

Financing Line Program for the Plantacion Del Sol Project 1B on June 20, 2018 with  

six percent (6%) per annum interest per annum. The maturity date is on  

February 20, 2020. The proceeds were transferred to the Group in 2019 amounting to 

P11,988,000.  

The Group fully paid the loan through buyers’ takeout from PDS Sophia amounting to 

P3,321,238 and P8,666,762 in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The loan was fully paid in 

2020.   

The Group is compliant with the terms and conditions of the borrowing agreements. 

  



44 

 

15. CONTRACT LIABILITIES AND TENANTS’ DEPOSITS 

The Group’s contract liabilities and tenants’ deposits amounted to P57,551,139 and 

P67,372,424 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  

Contract liabilities pertain to advances from customers paid to the Group by 

prospective buyers. The Group requires buyers to pay a minimum percentage of the 

total selling price before they enter into a sale transaction. Payments from buyers 

which have not reached the minimum required percentage are treated as contract 

liabilities. When the level of required payment is reached by the buyer, deposits and 

down payments are applied against the related accounts receivable. 

Contract liabilities include the consideration received from the designated transferee 

of The Metropolitan Club, Inc. (Metroclub) Project which was used to pay off the 

Group’s liabilities related to the Project, as disclosed in Note 13. 

The contract liabilities from cancelled contracts amounted to P66,846,888 and  

P68,063,784 as of December  31, 2021 and 2020, as disclosed in Note 13 under refund 

payable. 

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Nature of relationship of the Group and its related parties are disclosed below: 

Related Parties Nature of Relationship 

  Affiliates Under common control 

Stockholders Member of key management personnel 

Balances and transactions between the Group and its related parties are disclosed 

below: 

16.01 Due from Related Parties 

Balances of due from related parties as shown in the consolidated statements of 

financial position are summarized per category as follows: 

          2021              2020 

Under common control P  18,797,300  P 26,940,766 

Allowance for expected credit losses  (9,861,417)                     - 

 P  8,935,883 P 26,940,766 
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Movement of allowance for expected credit losses is as follows:  

           2021          2020 

Balance at January 1 P - P - 

Provision for expected credit losses  

(Note 23)  9,861,417  - 

Balance at December 31  P 9,861,417 P - 

16.01.01 Under Common Control 

Transactions with under common control are detailed as follows: 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

  Amount/ 

Volume 

 Outstanding 

Balance 

 Amount/ 

Volume 

 Outstanding 

Balance 

Affiliates         

Advances P - P 18,797,300 P -  P 26,940,766 

 

Advances collected from related parties amounted to P8,143,466, P1,945,087 and 

P3,518,654 in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The advances are mainly to finance working capital requirements of the related party. 

The amount outstanding is non-interest bearing, unsecured and will be settled in cash 

and collectible on demand. Provisions have been made for expected credit losses in 

respect of the amounts owed by the related parties. 

16.02 Due to Related Parties 

Balances of due to related parties as shown in the consolidated statements of 

financial position are summarized per category as follows: 

       2021  

        2020 

(As Restated) 

Under common control P 267,590,846   P 171,047,592  

Stockholders  112,086,222   157,410,534  

 P 379,677,068 P 328,458,126 

16.02.01 Under Common Control 

Transactions with entities under common control are detailed as follows: 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

  Amount/ 

Volume 

 Outstanding 

Balance 

 Amount/ 

Volume 

 Outstanding 

Balance 

Affiliates         

Advances P 96,543,254 P 267,590,846    P 32,568,572 P 171,047,592 

 

  



46 

 

Cash advances due to related parties are for working capital requirement. 

The amount outstanding due to bears an annual interest of four percent (4%) to 

eighteen percent (18%). No interest was recognized in both years. The Management 

and the related parties agreed not to recognize interest during the year as part of the 

rehabilitation of the Group. No guarantees have been given in respect of the amounts 

owed to related parties. The amount outstanding is non-interest bearing, unsecured 

and will be settled in cash and payable on demand. 

16.02.02 Member of Key Management Personnel 

Transactions with member of key management personnel are detailed as follows: 

  December 31, 2021  December 31, 2020 

  Amount/ 

Volume 

 Outstanding 

Balance 

 Amount/ 

Volume 

 Outstanding 

Balance 

Stockholders          

Advances P - P  112,086,222  P - P 157,410,534 

Payment to related parties in relation to the advances amounted to P45,324,312, 

P53,776,391 and P64,319,512 in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

The amount bears an annual interest of four percent (4%) to eighteen percent (18%). 

No guarantees have been given in respect of the amounts owed to related parties. 

The amount outstanding is non-interest bearing, unsecured and will be settled in cash 

and payable on demand. 

Movements of accrued finance cost are as follows: 

          2021                  2020           2019 

Balance, January 1 P 367,024,981 P 392,247,430 P 484,668,507 

Finance cost   -  -  670,670 

Payment  (34,402,331)   (25,222,449)  (93,091,747) 

Balance, December 31 P 332,622,650  P 367,024,981 P 392,247,430 

17. PROJECT DEVELOPMENT COMMITMENT 

This pertains to development commitment on Tagaytay Heights and Woodlands 

project which will be fulfilled during the rehabilitation period. As of December 31, 

2021 and 2020, project development commitment amounted to P26,751,896.  

18. CAPITAL STOCK 

The capital stock of the Group are as follows: 

           2021          2020 

Capital stock P 436,700,000 P 436,700,000 

Additional paid-in capital  1,089,000,000  1,089,000,000 

 P 1,525,700,000 P 1,525,700,000 
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Components of capital stock are as follows: 

          2021         2020 

Preference shares – Class B P 218,349,995 P 218,349,995 

Ordinary shares  218,350,005  218,350,005 

 P 436,700,000 P 436,700,000 

The Group’s additional paid-in capital pertains to the excess of capital contribution 

over the par value of share capital.   

18.01 Preference Shares 

Movements in the carrying amount of the Group’s preference shares are shown 

below: 

                    Shares    Amount 

Authorized    

 Class A - P1 par value 1,000,000 P 1,000,000 

   Class B - P1 par value 218,349,995  218,349,995 

 219,349,995 P 219,349,995 

Issued and fully paid    

   Class B - P1 par value 218,349,995 P 218,349,995 

Preference shares are entitled to dividends before any dividends are declared to 

ordinary shares.  Preference shares are non-cumulative and non-voting. 

Class A preferred share are non-voting and redeemable by the Group on the fifth year 

from the date of issue at the full price. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020,  

the Group has not issued Class A preferred shares. 

Class B preferred shares are non-voting and redeemable by the Group at the 

discretion of the Group’s board of directors at P3.50 a share but not less than its par 

value. The Group has one (1) preferred stockholder as of December 31, 2021 and 

2020. 

18.02 Ordinary Shares 

Shown below are the details of ordinary shares: 

                Shares    Amount 

Authorized    

P1 par value 780,150,005 P 780,150,005 

    

Issued and outstanding 218,350,005 P 218,350,005 

Ordinary shares carry one (1) vote per share and carry a right to dividends. 
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19. REVENUES 

Composition of the Group’s revenues are as follows: 

        2021           2020          2019 

Sale of real estate inventories       

    House and lot P 327,697,092  P 209,878,510   P 154,251,059 

    Condominium units and  

    parking lots  9,502,919  70,995,400  

 

14,621,891 

    Raw land  1,160,714   - -  762,361 

 P 338,360,725 P 280,873,910 P 169,635,311 

20. DIRECT COSTS 

The following is an analysis of the Group‘s direct costs: 

 
         2021 

 
        2020 

 
      2019 

Inventories, January 1 P   608,133,535 P 1,229,221,254 P 1,212,871,020 
Additions  138,120,657  117,367,021  116,286,194 

Assignment of inventories 

    (Note 12)  -   (558,029,964) 
 

- 

Cost of goods available for 

sale 

 746,254,192  788,558,311  1,329,157,214 

Inventories, December31  

 (Note 8)  (508,326,942)  (608,133,535) 
 

(1,229,221,254) 

   
P 237,927,250  P 180,424,776 P 99,935,960 

Additions pertain to the costs attributed for the construction costs and land 

acquisitions.  

21. OTHER INCOME 

Components of other income are as follows: 

     2021   2020 
 

2019 

Reversal of allowance for 

doubtful accounts (Note 7) P 3,028,314 P - P - 

Finance income on cash in 

banks (Note 6)  39,808   21,458   36,553 

Rental income  19,500   107,500  17,000 

Finance income on contracts 

receivable (Note 7)  1,968  217,355  98,787 

Gain on assignment of project 

(Note 12)  -  6,556,080   - 

Finance income on advances  -  817,013   - 

Others   431,566  475,192  270,206 

 P 3,521,156 P 8,194,598 P 422,546 

Others pertain to the incidental income from real estate business such as document 

processing and marketing charges.  
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22. OPERATING EXPENSES 

The account is composed of the following expenses: 

     2021     2020      2019 

Employee benefits (Note 24) P 23,827,866  P 8,408,732 P 7,693,595 

Taxes and licenses  14,956,940   87,383,764  2,623,716 

Sales commission  13,023,540   5,530,552   7,424,015 

Professional fees  4,647,546   7,279,574   4,610,211 

Transportation and travel  2,105,454   1,366,114   1,826,684 

Outside services  1,858,002    1,111,660   1,004,537 

Repairs and maintenance  1,237,277   1,481,368   1,623,854 

Representation  1,111,883   3,591,076   3,119,417 

Utilities  841,915    383,613   623,255 

Rental (Note 25)  706,543    1,588,439   458,850 

Association dues  299,394   2,074,965   71,383 

Supplies  222,829    145,550   224,929 

Advertising expense  191,869    46,367    29,497 

Depreciation (Note 10)  98,014    214,495   46,939 

Donation  70,215   62,896   34,502 

Penalties  24,085   22,943   70,974 

Insurance  12,798   35,854   25,016 

Others  3,386,623        1,071,221  1,865,920 

 P 68,622,793 P 121,799,183 P 33,377,294 

Taxes and licenses include permits, licenses, fees and real property tax.  

Others include miscellaneous expenses, bank charges and impairment loss on other 

current assets. 

23. OTHER EXPENSES 

The Group‘s other expenses comprised of the following: 

     2021      2020       2019 

Provision for decline in value 

(Note 8) P 99,745,850  P - P - 

Provision for expected credit 

losses (Note 16)  9,861,417   - 

 

- 

Provision for probable losses  

(Note 9)  1,356,750   - 

 

- 

 P 110,964,017 P - P - 
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24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Aggregate employee benefits expense is comprised of: 

    2021      2020    2019 

Short-term employee benefits 

   (Note 24.01) P  23,629,066   P 7,608,732 P 7,458,761 

Post-employment benefits  

   (Note 24.02)  198,800   800,000 

 

234,834 

 P 23,827,866 P 8,408,732 P 7,693,595 

24.01 Short-term Employee Benefits 

An analysis of the Group’s short-term employee benefits is as follows: 

  2021      2020    2019 

Salaries and wages P  16,861,286  P 5,254,449  P 5,106,519 

SSS, PhilHealth and HDMF  

   contributions  430,267   414,605 

 

387,135 

Other employee benefits    6,337,513   1,939,678   1,965,107 

 P 23,629,066 P 7,608,732 P 7,458,761 

24.02 Post-employment Benefits 

The Group has retirement benefit plan for qualifying employees under the provision 

of R.A. No. 7641, as disclosed in Note 5.01.05. This stated that an employee upon 

reaching the age of sixty (60) years or more, but not beyond sixty-five (65) years 

which is hereby declared the compulsory retirement age, who has served at least five 

(5) years in the said establishment, may retire and shall be entitled to retirement pay 

equivalent to at least one-half (1/2) month salary for every year of service, a fraction 

of at least six (6) months being considered as one whole year. 

Retirement benefits expense amounted to P198,800, P800,000 and P234,834 in 2021, 

2020 and 2019, respectively. The Group paid retirement benefit amounting to 

P198,800, P1,550,000 and P234,834 in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Carrying 

amounts of the retirement benefit obligation amounted to P1,872,413 in both years. 

25. LEASE AGREEMENTS 

25.01 The Group as a Lessee 

Lease contracts entered into by the Group pertains to office space with lease term of 

one (1) year and renewable under such terms and conditions mutually agreed upon 

by both parties. On August 1, 2019, the Group renewed its leased contract and will 

expire on July 31, 2022.  

In 2021, 2020 and 2019, rent expense from lease contract amounted to P706,543,  

P1,588,439  and P458,850, respectively, as disclosed in Note 22.   
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26. INCOME TAXES 

26.01 Income Tax Recognized in Profit or Loss 

The Group’s income tax expense amounted to P8,009,841, P16,508,136 and 

P1,401,707 in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

A numerical reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit 

(loss) multiplied by the tax rate in 2021, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

        2021      2020            2019 

Accounting profit (loss) P (75,632,179) P 13,205,118 P 35,742,396 

Tax expense (benefit) at 25%, 

  30% and 30%, respectively 

 

(18,908,045)     (3,961,535) 

 

10,722,719 

Tax effects of:       

Non-deductible expense on provision 

for decline in value 

 

24,936,462  -  

 

- 

Non-deductible expense on provision 

for expected credit losses 

 

2,465,354  -  

 

- 

  Non recognition of DTA  828,062  24,518,257  29,986 

Non-deductible expense on provision 

for probable losses 

 

339,188  -  

 

- 

  Penalties  6,021   6,884  21,293 

  Non-deductible  

      representation expense 

 

-  655,690 

 

680,214  

Non-deductible interest expense  -  1,630  2,993   

Impairment loss  -  -  220,459 

Application of previously  

   unrecognized NOLCO 

 

-  (1,451,038) 

 

(11,666,698) 

  Non-recognition of MCIT  -  (3,255,315)  1,401,707 

  Finance income subject to  

      final tax 

 

(9,952)  (6,437)  (10,966)  

  Effect of change in tax rate  (1,647,249)        -              - 

 
P 8,009,841 P 16,508,136 P 1,401,707 
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27. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 

27.01 Deferred Tax Assets 

The Group did not recognize the following deferred tax assets because of the 

uncertainty that the future deductible expenses such as allowance for expected credit 

losses, impairment loss and retirement benefits obligation will meet the requirements 

to be deductible in the future and MCIT will be utilized prior to expiration: 

        2021     2020 

Allowance for expected credit losses on:     

    Contracts and other receivables P 8,466,637  P 11,044,459 

    Due from related parties  2,465,354   - 

Allowance for impairment loss on:     

    Real estate inventories  41,569,577   19,959,738  

    Prepayments and other current assets  4,407,155   4,881,560  

Retirement benefits obligation  468,103   786,724  

Minimum Corporate Income Tax (MCIT)  252,257   - 

 P 57,629,083 P 36,672,481 

Details of Group’s MCIT which can be claimed as tax credits against regular income 

tax are as follows: 

Year 

Incurred  Amount 

Applied Previous 

Year  

Applied 

Current Year Expired Unapplied 

Expiry 

Date 

2018 P 1,022,789 P 1,022,789 P - P -  P - 2021 

2019  1,401,707   1,401,707   -  -   - 2022 

2021  1,039,148  -  -  -   1,039,148 2024 

 P 3,463,644 P 2,424,496 P - P -  P 1,039,148  

 

28. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 

The Group’s earnings (loss) per share are P(0.35), P(0.06) and P0.16  in 2021, 2020 and 

2019, respectively. 

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 

calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows: 

  2021  2020  2019 

Profit (Loss) used in the 

calculation of total basic 

earnings per share after 

preference dividends P (75,632,179) P (13,205,118) P 35,742,396 

Weighted average number of 

ordinary shares for the 

purposes of basic earnings per 

share  218,350,005  218,350,005  218,350,005 
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29. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

29.01 Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Group’s financial assets and 

financial liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 are presented below: 

  2021  2020 

  

Carrying 

Amount  Fair Values  

Carrying 

Amount  Fair Value 

Financial Assets:         

Cash P     67,116,566   P 67,116,566   P    19,180,696 P  19,180,696 

Contracts and other 

receivables  274,273,447  274,273,447  302,822,251  302,822,251 

Due from related parties  8,935,883   8,935,883   26,940,766  26,940,766 

Security deposits  6,222,755    6,222,755    6,176,473     6,176,473    

 P 356,548,651 P 356,548,651 P  355,120,186 P 355,120,186 

Financial Liabilities:         

Trade and other payables P      904,941,193 P  904,941,193 P   929,027,390 P  929,027,390 

Due to related parties  379,677,068  379,677,068  328,458,126  328,458,126 

Loans payable  60,765,417    60,765,417    105,139,150   105,139,150  

 P     1,345,383,678 P 1,345,383,678 P   1,362,624,666 P 1,362,624,666 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are determined as follows: 

• Due to the demand feature or short-term nature of cash, contracts and other 

receivables, due to and from related parties, security deposits and trade and other 

payables (excluding payable to government agencies), Management estimates 

that the carrying amounts approximate the fair values of financial instruments, as 

of December 31, 2021 and 2020. 

• Loans payable are bearing market interest rates. Hence, the fair value of these 

loans payable is equal to its carrying amount. 

Management believes that the carrying amounts of rental deposits and miscellaneous 

advances approximate their fair values. 

29.02 Fair Value Determinations of Asset  

The following table provides an analysis of assets that are measured at fair value on a 

non-recurring basis subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 

1 to 3 based on the degree to which inputs to valuation techniques are observable: 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities that can be accessed at the measurement date; 

• Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within the Level 1 that 

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset. 
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29.02.01 Fair Value Hierarchy  

Recurring Fair Value Measurement 

In both years, the fair value of investment properties are based on the Level 2 fair 

value measurements. As of December 31, 2021 and 2019, the fair values of investment 

properties amounted to P25,800,000, as disclosed in Note 11.   

There were no transfers between Level 2 and 3 in the period. 

29.02.02 Valuation Techniques 

The value of the investment properties were derived using the market data approach.   

Market approach is a valuation technique that uses prices and other relevant 

information generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable 

assets. Under market data approach, the value of the investment properties were 

based on sales and listings of comparable property registered within the vicinity.  The 

technique of this approach requires the adjustments of comparable property by 

reducing reasonable comparative sales and listings to a common denominator. This 

was done by adjusting the differences between the subject property and those actual 

sales and listings regarded as comparable. The properties used as bases of 

comparison were situated within the immediate vicinity of the subject property. The 

comparison was premised on the factors of location, size and shape of the property, 

time element and others.   

29.02.03 Highest and Best Use  

The Group’s non-financial asset which composed investment properties. As of 

December 31, 2021, the Group assessed the highest and best use of the investment 

properties from the perspective of market participants. As such, the Group 

determined that the current use of the investment properties is the assets’ highest 

and best use.   

30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business,  

coordinates access to domestic markets, monitors and manages the financial risks 

relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyze 

exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk, 

including interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

30.01 Market Risk Management 

30.01.01 Interest Rate Risk Management 

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises from its cash in banks,  

contracts receivable and loans subject to fixed interest rates which is immaterial. 

The interest rate risk arising from cash in banks are managed by means of effective 

investment planning and analysis and maximizing investment opportunities in 

various local banks and financial institutions. 

Profits and loss for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 would have 

been unaffected since the Group’s interest rate risk exposure for its cash in bank 

which is subject to variable interest rate is immaterial.  
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30.02 Credit Risk Management 

 The Group considers the following policies to manage its credit risk: 

➢ Banks 

The Group transacts only to banks with investment grade credit rating.  

This information is supplied by independent rating agencies. The Group uses 

other publicly available information such as annual report to monitor the 

financial status of the banks. The Group assesses the current and forecast 

information of the banking industry and the macro-economic factors such as 

GDP, interest, and inflation rates to determine the possible impact to banks. 

➢ Contracts and other receivables 

The Group transacts only with customers which are all creditworthy.   

The Group assesses the current and forecast information of the clients’ industry 

and the macro-economic factors such as GDP rate, inflation rate and foreign 

exchange rate to determine the possible impact to the Group’s clients. 

➢ Due from related parties 

The Group transacts only with related parties which are all creditworthy.   

The Group assesses the current and forecast information of the related parties’ 

industry and the macro-economic factors such as GDP rate, inflation rate and 

foreign exchange rate to determine the possible impact to the Group’s related 

parties. 

➢ Deposits  

The Group transacts only with counterparties which are all creditworthy.   

The Group assesses the current and forecast information of the counterparties’ 

industry and the macro-economic factors such as GDP rate, inflation rate and 

foreign exchange rate to determine the possible impact to the Group’s 

counterparties. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost and contracts receivable are as follows: 

        2021          2020 

Cash in banks P 66,659,458  P 18,817,997  

Contracts and other receivables  274,273,447    302,822,251 

Due from related parties  8,935,883    26,940,766 

Deposits  6,222,755   6,176,473 

 P 356,091,543 P 354,757,487 

The calculation of allowance for expected credit losses are based on the following 

three (3) components: 

➢ Probability of Default (PD) 

PD is the likelihood over a specified period, usually one year that a client will not 

be able to make scheduled repayments. PD depends not only on the client's 

characteristics, but, also on the economic environment. PD may be estimated 

using historical data and statistical techniques. 
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➢ Loss Given Default (LGD) 

LGD is the amount of money a Group loses when a client defaults on a contract. 

The most frequently used method to calculate this loss is by comparing the 

actual total losses and the total amount of potential exposure sustained at the 

time that a contract goes into default. 

➢ Exposure at Default (ED)  

ED is the total value a Group is exposed to when a loan defaults. It refers to the 

gross carrying amount of financial asset. 

Below is the summary of computation of allowance for expected credit losses in 2021 

and 2020: 

Cash in Banks 

 PD 

rate LGD rate 

 

ED 

 ECL 

December 31, 2021 a b  c  d=a*b*c 

Banco De Oro Universal Bank 0.00% 79.16% P 52,719,900 P 
- 

Philippine Bank of Communications 0.00% 100.00%  10,276,292   - 

Bank of Commerce 0.00% 100.00%  116,874    - 

Land Bank of The Philippines 0.00% 100.00%  1,996,090   - 

Union Bank of The Philippines 0.00% 100.00%  562,605   - 

Bank of The Phil. Island 0.00% 100.00%  228   - 

   P 65,671,989 P - 

December 31, 2020       

Banco De Oro Universal Bank 0.00% 84.39% P 3,190,381 P - 

Philippine Bank of Communications 0.00% 100.00%  12,334,526  - 

Bank of Commerce 0.00% 100.00%  109,528  - 

Bank of The Phil. Island 0.00% 100.00%  65,726  - 

Land Bank of The Philippines 0.00% 100.00%  994,742  - 

Union Bank of The Philippines 0.00% 100.00%  1,123,094  - 

   P 17,817,997 P - 

Contracts and Other Receivable 

 
PD rate LGD rate 

 
ED 

 ECL 

December 31, 2021 a b  c  d=a*b*c 

Contracts and other  

   receivable 10.96% 

0.00% to 

100% P 308,059,995 P 33,786,548 

       

December 31, 2020       

Contracts and other  

   receivable 10.84% 

0.00% to 

100% P 339,637,113 P 36,814,862 
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Due from Related Parties 

 
PD rate LGD rate 

 
ED 

 ECL  

December 31, 2021 a b  c  d=a*b*c 

Due from related parties 52.46% 100% P 18,797,300 P 9,861,417 

December 31, 2020       

Due from related parties 0.00% 100% P 27,691,903 P - 

 

Cash in Banks 

The Group determined the probability of default rate by considering the following: the 

credit ratings; the past, current, and forecast performance of Banking Industry; the 

past, current, and forecast macro-economic factors that may affect the banks; and the 

current and projected financial information. The Group estimated the probability of 

default to be nil. 

Loss given default rate is calculated by taking into consideration the amount of 

insured deposit and estimated it to be 79.16% and 84.39% in 2021 and 2020. 

Exposure at default is equal to the gross carrying amount of cash in banks. 

Contracts and Other Receivable 

The Group determined the probability of default rate by considering the following:  

the aging schedules of contracts and other receivables for the past three years;  

the breakdown of receivables per year; and the past, current, and forecast  

macro-economic factors that may affect the Group’s clients.  

For contracts and other receivables from sale of house and lots, loss given default 

rate is calculated by taking into consideration the receivables from Home 

Development Mutual Fund (HDMF) after receipt of Notice of Take-out. 

For contracts and other receivables from sale of condominium units, loss given 

default rate is calculated by taking into consideration the fair value of the real 

properties. 

For other receivables, loss given default rate is based on the carrying amount of the 

receivable.  No collateral or security is attached to the receivables. 

Based on the considerations above, loss given default rate is estimated it to be 0.00% 

to 100% in both years.    

The Group estimated the probability of default to be 10.96% and 10.84% for all 

receivable from clients in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Due from Related Parties 

The Group determined the probability of default rate by considering the following: the 

aging schedules of due from related parties for the past three years; the breakdown of 

receivables per year; and the past, current, and forecast macro-economic factors that 

may affect the Group’s clients.  

Loss given default is estimated to be 100% in both years. 

The Group estimated the probability of default to be 52.46% and nil for all due from 

related parties in 2021 and 2020, respectively. 
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Deposits 

In 2021 and 2020, this financial asset represents 0.17% in both years. Hence, 

Management believes that the effect of provision for expected credit loss is 

immaterial to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

30.03 Liquidity Risk Management 

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of 

Directors, who has established an appropriate liquidity risk management framework 

for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and 

liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining 

adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by 

matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its 

non-derivative financial liabilities with agreed repayment periods. The tables have 

been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on 

the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both 

interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, 

the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at the end of the 

reporting period. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the 

Group may be required to pay. 

 

 

Weighted 

Average 

Effective 

Interest 

Rate  On demand  

Within one (1) 

year 

 

One (1) – Five 

(5) years  Total 

December 31, 2021         

 Trade and other payables P - P 904,941,193 P -  P 904,941,193 

Due to related  

    parties  4%-18%  379,677,068  -  -   379,677,068 

Loans payable 6%  -  60,765,417  -  60,765,417 

  P 379,677,068 P 965,706,610 P - P 1,345,383,678 

December 31, 2020         

Trade and other payables P - P 929,027,390 P -  P 929,027,390 

Due to related  

    parties 4%-18%  328,458,126  - 

 -  

   328,458,126 

Loans payable 6%  -  -  105,139,150  105,139,150 

  P 328,458,126 P 929,027,390 P 105,139,150 P 1,362,624,666 

The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative 

financial assets. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual 

maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those 

assets.  The inclusion of information on non-derivative financial assets is necessary in 

order to understand the Group’s liquidity risk management as the liquidity is 

managed on a net asset and liability basis. 
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Weighted 

Average 

Effective 

Interest Rate  On demand  

Within one 

(1) year 

 

One (1) – 

Five (5) 

Years  Total 

December 31, 2021         

Cash on hand -  P 457,108 P -  P -  P 457,108 

Cash in banks Floating  66,659,458  -   -   66,659,458 

Contracts and other 

receivable -  -   274,273,447  -   274,273,447 

Due from related 

parties -   8,935,883   -  

 

-   8,935,883  

Deposits -   -   6,222,755    -   6,222,755   

  P 76,052,449 P 280,496,202 P -  P 356,548,651 

December 31, 2020         

Cash on hand -  P 362,699 P -  P -  P 362,699 

Cash in banks Floating  18,817,997  -   -   18,817,997 

Contracts and other 

receivable -  -   302,822,251  -   302,822,251 

Due from related 

parties -  26,940,766     - 

 

-   26,940,766 

Deposits  -  -   6,176,473     -   6,176,473    

  P 46,121,462 P 308,998,724 P -  P 355,120,186 

31. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as 

going concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization 

of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 

2020. 

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity of the Group 

(comprising capital stock, additional paid-in up capital, and deficit). 

The Group considers the following as its core capital aggregating as follows: 

  
          2021           2020 

Capital stock P 436,700,000 P 436,700,000 

Additional paid-in capital  1,089,000,000  1,089,000,000 

Deficit  (1,873,520,914)  (1,789,878,894) 

 P (347,820,914) P (264,178,894) 

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The Group, 

however, is subject to loan covenants, as disclosed in Note 14. 
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32. CORRECTION OF PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS 

During the year, the Management decided to correct prior period errors in trade and 

other payables, due to related parties and contingencies through restatement.  

Details are as follows:   

32.01 Trade and other payables 

In 2021, the Parent Company corrected the trade and other payables due to 

unrecorded titling fees payable, under accrual of interest and overstatement of 

accrued expenses and trade and retention payable in the prior years.  

As a result, the amount of trade and other payables was restated beginning  

January 1, 2019. Deficit was adjusted to reflect the impact of under accrual of interest 

in prior years. 

32.02 Due to related parties 

Due to related parties was adjusted this year due to overstatement of advances.  

The error was incurred before 2019 and as a result, due to related parties was restated 

beginning January 1, 2019.  

32.03 Project development commitment 

The Parent Company has entered into development commitment on Tagaytay 

Heights and Woodlands project which will be fulfilled during the rehabilitation period. 

It was not recorded as provision in the prior years. During the year, the Management 

decided to recognize the unrecorded provision.  
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Below are the prior period errors which Management decided to correct through 

restating the retained earnings as of January 1, 2020: 

Accounts   

January 1, 2020, 

as previously 

stated   Adjustments   

January 1, 2020, 

as restated 

       
Statement of Financial 

Position       
Trade and other payables  807,437,667  80,779,880  888,217,547  

Due to related parties  353,932,627   (4,266,682)  349,665,945 

Contingencies                -     26,751,896   26,751,896  

Deficits   (1,656,900,546)   (103,265,094)   (1,760,165,640) 

Statement of Changes in 

Equity       

Deficits   (1,656,900,546)   (103,265,094)   (1,760,165,640) 

       

Accounts   

January 1, 2021, 

as previously 

stated   Adjustments   

January 1, 2021, 

as restated 

       
Statement of Financial 

Position       
Trade and other payables  850,617,014  80,779,880  931,396,894 

Due to related parties  332,724,808   (4,266,682)  328,458,126  

Contingencies  -    26,751,896   26,751,896  

Deficits   (1,686,613,800)   (103,265,094)   (1,789,878,894) 

Statement of Changes in 

Equity       

Deficits   (1,686,613,800)   (103,265,094)   (1,789,878,894) 

       

33. NON - CASH TRANSACTIONS 

The Group entered into the following non-cash financing activities which are not 

reflected in the statements of cash flows: 

• The Group paid the loan with United Coconut Planters Life Assurance 

Corporation through share in the proceeds of JVA amounting nil, P7,624,692 

and P17,579,961 in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, as disclosed in Note 

14.01. 

 

• The Group paid the loan with Holiday Homes, Inc. through buyers’ takeout 

from PDS Sophia amounting to nil, P3,321,238 and P8,666,762 in 2021, 2020 

and 2019, respectively, as disclosed in Note 14.03 
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34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities as shown in the 

statements of cash flows is as follows: 

             2021              2020 

January 1 P 469,872,020 P 506,330,622 

Change from financing cash flow     

Advances received from related parties  96,543,254   32,568,572 

Finance cost incurred  -  49,667 

Noncash transaction  -  10,945,930 

Finance cost paid  (34,402,331)  (25,272,116)  

Payments of loan through cash  (44,373,733)  (974,264) 

Advances paid to related parties  (45,324,312)   (53,776,391)  

 P 442,314,898 P 469,872,020 

35. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance 

by the Board of Directors on January 16, 2023. 
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PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. 

INDEX II

Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration

December 31, 2021 and 2020 

Unappropriated retained earnings (deficit), beginning P (1,673,645,097)            

Add/(Deduct) net income/(loss) actually earned during the period (80,343,357)                 

Less cash dividends declared -                             

Retained earnings available for dividend declaration (deficit) P (1,753,988,454)          



SCHEDULE II

PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

A.  SHORT-TERM LIQUIDITY RATIO

CURRENT  RATIO 0.76                       0.89                        

Current Assets 1,067,738,569       1,176,050,566        

Current Liabilities 1,407,770,699       1,327,227,444        

ACID - TEST RATIO 0.24                       0.24                        

341,390,013          322,002,947           

Current Liabilities 1,407,770,699       1,327,227,444        

WORKING CAPITAL TO ASSETS (0.31)                      (0.13)                       

(Current Assets - Current Liabilities) (340,032,130)         (151,176,878)          

Total Assets 1,088,574,094       1,196,812,009        

B. LONG-TERM SOLVENCY

ASSET TO EQUITY (3.13)                      (4.53)                       

Total Asset 1,088,574,094       1,196,812,009        

Shareholders' Equity (347,820,914)         (264,178,894)          

DEBT TO EQUITY (4.13)                      (5.53)                       

Total Liabilities 1,436,395,008       1,460,990,903        

Shareholders' Equity (347,820,914)         (264,178,894)          

(Cash and Cash equivalents + Current 

Receivables + Short term investments)

12



LONG-TERM DEBT TO EQUITY (4.130)                    (5.530)                     

Long-Term Debt 1,436,395,008       1,460,990,903        

Shareholders' Equity (347,820,914)         (264,178,894)          

FIXED ASSETS TO EQUITY (0.00)                      (0.00)                       

(Fixed Assets - Accumulated Depreciation) 355,929                 281,847                  

Shareholders' Equity (347,820,914)         (264,178,894)          

CREDITORS EQUITY TO TOTAL ASSETS 1.32                       1.22                        

Total Liabilities 1,436,395,008       1,460,990,903        

Total Assets 1,088,574,094       1,196,812,009        

FIXED ASSETS TO LONG-TERM DEBT 0.00                       0.00                        

(Fixed Assets - Accumulated Depreciation) 355,929                 281,847                  

Long-Term Debt 1,436,395,008       1,460,990,903        

C. RETURN ON INVESTMENTS

RATE OF RETURN ON TOTAL ASSETS (0.07) (0.05)

Net Income (Loss) (83,642,020)           (29,713,254)            

Average Total Assets 1,142,693,052       598,406,005           

RATE OF RETURN ON EQUITY 0.27                       0.08                        

Net Income (Loss) (83,642,020)           (29,713,254)            

Average Stockholders' Equity (305,999,904)         (381,411,713)          
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D. PROFITABILITY RATIOS

GROSS PROFIT RATIO 0.30                       0.36                        

Gross Income 100,433,475          100,449,134           

Revenues 338,360,725          280,873,910           

OPERATING INCOME TO REVENUES 0.31                       0.39                        

Income from Operations 103,954,631          108,643,732           

Revenues 338,360,725          280,873,910           

PRETAX INCOME TO REVENUES (0.22)                      (0.05)                       

Pretax Income (75,632,179)           (13,205,118)            

Revenues 338,360,725          280,873,910           

NET INCOME TO REVENUE (0.25)                      (0.11)                       

Net Income (83,642,020)           (29,713,254)            

Revenues 338,360,725          280,873,910           

E. INTEREST COVERAGE RATIO

INTEREST COVERAGE RATIO -                         (264.87)                   

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (75,632,179)           (13,155,451)            

Interest Expense -                         49,667                    
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PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE A

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

December 31, 2021

Name of Issuing Entity and 

Description of Each Issue

Number of Shares or 

Principal Amount of 

Bonds and Notes

Amounts Shown in the 

Statements of Financial 

Position

Value Based on Market 

Quotations at Balance Sheet 

Date 

Income 

Received and 

Accrued

December 31, 2021

Cash P                                    -   P                              67,116,566 P                                 67,116,566 P                     -   

Contracts and other receivables                                    -                              274,273,447                               274,273,447                     -   

Due from related parties                                    -                                  8,935,883                                   8,935,883                     -   

Deposits                                    -                                  6,222,755                                   6,222,755                     -   

P                                    -   P                            356,548,651 P                               356,548,651 P                     -   



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE B

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM 

DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES, RELATED PARTIES, AND 

PRINCIPAL STOCKHOLDERS (OTHER THAN RELATED PARTIES)

December 31, 2021

Name and designation of 

debtor *

Balance at 

beginning of 

period Additions

Amounts 

collected**

Amounts 

Written Off 

*** Current

Not 

Current

Balance at the 

end of the 

period

Officers and employees

Various P 9,037,280      P 5,135,388      P (1,356,750)     P -              P 12,815,918 P -         P 12,815,918        

Amounts owed by Related Parties



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE C

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF AMOUNTS OF RECEIVABLE FROM 

RELATED PARTIES WHICH ARE ELIMINATED DURING THE

CONSOLIDATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2021

Name and designation of debtor

Balance at beginning 

of period
Additions

Amount 

collected

Amount 

written off
Current Not current

Balance at end of 

period

Due from related parties                 342,362,638    26,151,349 (8,146,466)                      -      360,367,521                    -            360,367,521 

Receivables from related parties which are eliminated during the consolidation



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE D

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF LONG-TERM DEBT

December 31, 2021 

Title of issue and type of 

obligation

Amount authorized by 

indenture

Amount shown under caption 

“current portion of long-term” in 

related Statement of Financial 

Position

Amount shown under caption “long-term 

debt” in related Statement of Financial 

Position Total

December 31, 2021

Loan Payable Not Applicable -                                                    -                                                                        -                               

Long-term Debt

Note: The terms, interest rate, collaterals and other relevant informations are shown in Note 14 of the Consolidated Financial Statements



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE E

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF INDEBTEDNESS TO RELATED

PARTIES (LONG-TERM LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES)

December 31, 2021 

Name of related party Balance at beginning of period

Balance at end of 

period

Indebtedness to related parties (Long-term loans from related companies)

----- Nothing to Report ------



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE F

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEES OF SECURITIES OF OTHER ISSUERS

December 31, 2021 

Name of issuing entity of securities 

guaranteed by the company for which 

this statement is filed

Title of issue of  each class of 

securities guaranteed 

Total amount guaranteed and 

outstanding 

Amount owned by 

person for which 

statement is filed Nature of guarantee

Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers

----- Nothing to Report ------



PHILTOWN PROPERTIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE G

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF CAPITAL STOCK

December 31, 2021 and 2020

Title of Issue

Number of shares 

authorized

Number of shares issued 

and outstanding as shown 

under related Statement of 

Financial Position caption

Number of shares 

reserved for options 

warrants, conversion 

and other rights

Number of shares 

held by related 

parties

Number of shares 

held by directors, 

officers and 

employees Others

December 31, 2021

Common Shares 780,150,005 218,350,005                            -                                  -                           40,519                    218,309,486              

Preferred Class A 1,000,000                              - -                                  -                           -                          

Preferred Class B 218,349,995 218,349,995                            -                                  -                           -                          218,349,995              

999,500,000 436,700,000                            -                                  -                           40,519                    436,659,481              

Capital Stock
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